
MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AGENDA 

 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBER (ROOM A108) 

56 CHURCH STREET 
MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 35213 

 
FEBRUARY 10, 2014 ─ 7:00 P.M. 

___________ 
 

1. Madeleine Odendahl of the Birmingham Museum of Art to address the governing body. 
 

2. Presentation of the September 30, 2013 financial audit report of the City. 
 

3. Approval of the minutes of the January 27, 2014 regular meeting of the City Council. 
 

4. Consideration:  Resolution setting a public hearing for March 10, 2014 to consider an ordinance amending the 
zoning code with respect to publication requirements for public hearings. 
 

5. Consideration:  Resolution declaring certain weapons surplus and authorizing their trade in conjunction with 
the purchase of replacement weapons. 

 
6. Consideration:  Resolution awarding the bid for the purchase and installation of ceiling tiles at the Emmet 

O’Neal Library. 
 

7. Consideration:  Resolution accepting the release and indemnification from Charles and Kelly Herron with 
respect to the City’s waiver of building code requirements for the property located at 2709 Southwood Road. 

 
8. Announcement:  The next regular meeting of the City Council will be February 24, 2014, at 7 p.m. in the 

Council Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213. 
 
9. Other business. 

 
10. Comments from residents. 

 
11. Adjourn. 

 
        
  



Page 1

20,788,861 
22,182,614 

23,291,779 

25,237,920 
26,355,707 26,367,333 26,282,759 26,382,922 

27,109,720 27,187,309 

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Tax Revenue Dollars

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
General Fund  - Tax Revenues



Page 2

2,732,535 2,711,935 

3,104,197 
3,246,474 

3,584,198 

3,177,440 
3,326,850 

3,540,269 
3,694,451 

4,296,693 

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

4,500,000

5,000,000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Licenses & Permits
Revenue Dollars

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
General Fund  - Licenses & Permits Revenues



Page 3

2,008,156 
2,060,355 2,090,666 

979,998 

569,828 562,141 587,322 
652,152 

753,796 728,997 

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Service
Revenue Dollars

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
General Fund  - Service Revenues



Page 4

21,339,948 

25,110,699 
23,852,100 

30,442,089 

25,340,581 
26,274,204 25,963,777 

27,282,935 27,364,442 
27,850,692 

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Expenses

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
General Fund  - Operating Expenses



Page 5

4,050,748 
4,744,614 

5,527,099 

6,482,391 

7,416,661 
7,729,120 

8,924,698 

9,973,109 

10,978,012 

12,061,269 

0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

12,000,000

14,000,000

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Fund Balance

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
General Fund - Total Fund Balance



Page 6

69 69 

85 
78 

107 107 

125 
133 

146 

158 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

D
ay

s

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
Total General Fund Fund Balance - Operating Expense in Days



Page 7

17

20 20 20 20

30 30 30 30

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Ye
ar

s 
of

 
Am

or
tiz

at
io

n

Years

City of  Mountain Brook, Alabama
Remaining Amortization Period of  the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Pension Liability



   

 
 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE  

AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 

To the Mayor and City Council 
  City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 

 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major 
fund, the fiduciary fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama (the City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2013, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise City’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated [DATE PENDING]. 
 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of City’s internal 
control. 
 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our 
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. We did 
identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and responses that we consider to be significant deficiencies: 2013-001. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether City’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 

DRAFT



direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

 
 

 
 

Birmingham, Alabama 
[DATE PENDING] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT



   

 
City of Mountain Brook 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 
 For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 
 

2013-001  Finding:  
 

Segregation of Duties 
 

Due to the limited number of people working in the accounting department, 
certain critical duties are combined and assigned to the available employees.  To 
the extent possible, duties should be segregated to serve as a check and 
balance on employees’ integrity and to maintain the best control system possible.  
We suggest that the segregation of duties be reviewed and adjusted where 
possible to strengthen the system of internal control. 

 
Response of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:   
 
 
 
  

 
 

DRAFT



 

 
 
[DATE PENDING] 
 
 
To the City Council  
Mountain Brook, Alabama 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Mountain Brook (the “City”) for the year ended September 30, 
2013. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our 
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards (and, if applicable, 
Government Auditing Standards and OMB Circular A-133), as well as certain information 
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our letter to you dated December 9, 2013. Professional standards also 
require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings  

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. 
The significant accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing 
policies was not changed during 2013. We noted no transactions entered into by the 
governmental unit during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 
consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in 
the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are 
particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements were: 
  

Management’s estimate of the liability to the Jefferson County Personnel Board is 
based on Jefferson County’s estimate of actual amount due. We evaluated the key 
factors and assumptions used to develop the liability to the Jefferson County 
Personnel Board in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
 
Management’s estimate of the Self-Insured Workers’ Compensation Loss Reserves 
which is based on certain actuarial assumptions and the Accrued Compensated 
Absences Liability which is based on assumptions related to certain personnel and 
payroll matters.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the 
Self-Insured Workers’ Compensation Loss Reserves and the Accrued Compensated 
Absences Liability in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

DRAFT



City Council  
Mountain Brook, Alabama 
DATE PENDING 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their 
significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosure affecting the 
financial statements was: 
 

The disclosure of the City’s pension plan and post-employment benefits other than 
pensions in Note 6 and Note 7, respectively, to the financial statements. These 
disclosures contain actuarial assumptions and valuations that may differ from actual 
results. 

 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit.  
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements 
identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to 
the appropriate level of management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. 
In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and 
corrected by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each 
opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a whole. 
  
Disagreements with Managements 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management 
as a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our 
satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor's report. We 
are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated [DATE PENDING]. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing 
and accounting matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the City's financial statements 
or a determination of the type of auditor's opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us 
to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no 
such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles 
and auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City's 
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT



City Council  
Mountain Brook, Alabama 
DATE PENDING 
Page 3 
 
 

 

Other Matters 
 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we 
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of 
preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it 
has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in 
relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the 
supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the 
City and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
Carr, Riggs & Ingram, L.L.C. 
Birmingham, Alabama 

DRAFT



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013



DRAFT



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
City Officials

September 30, 2013

MAYOR

The Honorable Lawrence T. Oden

CITY COUNCIL

Ms. Virginia C. Smith, President

Mr. Jack D. Carl Mr. William S. (Billy) Pritchard, III

Ms. Amy G. Carter Mr. Jesse S. Vogtle, Jr.

CITY MANAGER

Mr. Sam S. Gaston

DEPARTMENT SUPERVISORS

Building Inspections . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Jerry Weems
Finance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Steven Boone
Fire Department . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Robert W. (Zeke) Ezekiel
Police Department  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Theodore J. (Ted) Cook
Streets and Sanitation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .Mr. Ronald D. Vaughn
Parks and Recreation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Mr. Shanda Williams



DRAFT



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Table of Contents

Page
Independent Auditors' Report 5

Management's Discussion and Analysis 7

Basic Financial Statements:
Government-wide Statement of Net Position 17
Government-wide Statement of Activities 18

Fund Financial Statements:
Balance Sheet ─  Governmental Funds 19
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

to Statement of Net Position 20
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balances ─  Governmental Funds 21
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes

in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Government-wide
Statement of Activities 22

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position ─ OPEB BenefitsTrust Fund 23
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ─ OPEB Benefits Trust Fund 24

Notes to Financial Statements 25

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances ─ Budget and Actual ─ General Fund 50

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 51

Supplementary Information:
Combining Balance Sheet ─ Other Governmental Funds 54

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances ─ Other Governmental Funds 55

Combining Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds 56

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds 57

Schedule of General Fund Revenues by Source 58

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ General Fund 59

Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ General Fund 60

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds 61

3



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Table of Contents

Page
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds 62

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Debt Service Fund 63

Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balance ─ Debt Service Fund 64

4



DRAFT

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

Mayor and City Council 
City of Mountain Brook 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely presented 
component unit, each major fund, the fiduciary fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of 
Mountain Brook, Alabama (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2013, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the 
financial statements of the Mountain Brook Library Foundation (the Foundation), which represents the discretely 
presented component unit. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to 
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Foundation, is based solely on the report 
of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, the fiduciary fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City as of September 30, 2013, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 



DRAFT

 

 

 

Other Matters 

Report on Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 7 through 15 and 48 through 49 be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of 
contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 
The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, based on our audit, the 
procedures performed as described above, and the report of the other auditors, the accompanying supplementary 
information as listed in the table of contents is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated [DATE PENDING], on 
our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is 
to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be 
considered in assessing the results of our audit. 

 

 
Birmingham, Alabama 

[DATE PENDING] 



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

•

•

•

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Government-wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements are intended to provide an indication of the City’s
finances in a manner similar to the private sector. Accordingly, the government-wide
statements, comprised of the Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, have been
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

This narrative overview and analysis of the City’s financial activities as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2013, prepared by the management of the City, is presented to facilitate the
users’ understanding of the annual report and draw attention to items of interest.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at September 30, 2013, by $115 million (Total Net
Position). Of this amount, $78 million represents the net book value of the City’s capital
assets including infrastructure net of outstanding long-term debt and $1.4 million is restricted
($462,000 for the Emergency Communication District and $981,000 for road improvements
from the State Shared Gasoline Tax special revenue funds). The remaining $35 million is
available for use by the City to fund future municipal services and to meet its obligations to
employees and creditors.

The Total Net Position increased by $3.5 million in 2013 which includes the net cost of
providing core City Services of  $23.7 million plus $27.2 million in General Revenues.

As of September 30, 2013, the City reported $27.4 million in fund balances, a decrease of
$6.4 million from 2012. Of the $27.4 million fund balances, $12.1 million (44%) is reported in
the General Fund, $10.5 million (38%) in the Capital Projects Fund, and $4.8 million (18%) in
the Other Governmental Funds.

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial
statements. The basic financial statements consist of the 1) government-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, 3) notes to financial statements, and 4) certain
required supplementary financial information. In addition, the City has included other
supplementary information intended to further enhance the users’ understanding of the City’s
financial position and results of operations.

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK

P. O. Box 130009
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213‐0009
Telephone:   205.802.2400
www.mtnbrook.org

7



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Funds

The Statement of Net Position depicts all of the primary government’s assets and liabilities with
the difference between the two reported as Net Position. Over time, changes in net position
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the City’s financial position is improving or
deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities illustrates how the City’s net position changed during the year.
Revenues and expenses reported in the Statement of Activities are recorded when the
underlying event that gave rise to the change occurred as opposed to the timing of the related
cash flow. The focus of the Statement of Activities is on the gross and net cost of the various
governmental activities which are funded by the City’s general tax and other revenues. The
purpose of this statement is to simplify the analysis of the costs of various governmental
services.

The fund financial statements have been prepared under the modified accrual basis of
accounting and their presentation is largely consistent with historical presentations.

A fund is a grouping of related accounts designed to facilitate control over resources that have
been segregated for a specific activity or objective. Fund accounting is used to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the City’s funds are
governmental type funds (as opposed to business-type funds) whose primary resources are
provided by taxes.

Governmental funds essentially measure and report the same activities and transactions as the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
accrual basis government-wide statements, the governmental funds focus on current,
spendable resources and balances of such spendable resources available at the end of the
year.

The City maintains eleven (11) governmental funds. The City considers the General Fund and
Capital Projects Fund (which is comprised of three “sub-funds”) to be major funds and their
respective balance sheets and statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balance are separately reported. Information from the remaining funds (Debt Service and
Special Revenue) have been aggregated and reported in a single column titled "Other
Governmental Funds". Additional information about these aggregated non-major funds and the
major funds is provided in the other supplementary information.

8



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Infrastructure Capital Assets

Useful Accumulated 
Life Cost Depreciation Depreciation 
N/A 16,525,671$   N/A N/A
20 17,260,755     521,304$         12,380,459$    
20 13,946,471     686,080           3,346,623        
15 9,303,328       297,590           7,397,816        
20 8,122,416       351,178           4,874,793        
15 1,278,755       63,394             871,405           
5 4,683,561       353,121           3,826,427        

Totals 71,120,957$   2,272,667$      32,697,523$    

Government-wide Financial Analysis

          2013            2012 
Current assets 30,873,958$    37,572,501$    
Other assets 12,068,657      11,560,203      
Capital assets 82,233,249    73,921,834      

Total assets 125,175,864  123,054,538    

Current and other liabilities 3,694,353        4,983,349        
Long-term liabilities 6,620,109      6,707,718        

Total liabilities 10,314,462    11,691,067      

Net position:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 78,143,249      69,636,834      
Restricted 1,443,216        1,287,828        
Unrestricted 35,274,937    40,438,809      

Total net position 114,861,402$ 111,363,471$  

Street lights and signs

Storm sewers

Library reference materials

Land

Sidewalks

A major accounting and reporting change required by the GASB reporting model that was
implemented in 2003 is the capitalization of infrastructure assets. The cost of infrastructure was
estimated based on historical financial cost data maintained by the City and other estimation
techniques (primarily involving non-depreciable land, easements, and rights-of-way).
Depreciation of infrastructure was determined using the straight-line method from the year of
acquisition using estimated useful lives ranging between 10 and 75 years depending on the
class of asset. Infrastructure capitalized and the related depreciation reported in the
accompanying government-wide financial statements is as follows:

Following is a comparative, condensed financial analysis of the government-wide net position of
the City as of September 30:

Streets and alleys

Park facilities

9



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

          2013            2012 
Revenues

Program revenues
   Fees, fines and charges for services 5,961,384$      5,164,486$      
   Operating grants and contributions 986,104           981,427           
   Capital grants and contributions 1,734,547        1,686,817        
General revenues
   Ad valorem taxes 14,720,970      15,026,059      
   Sales and use taxes 9,889,449        9,406,314        
   Other taxes 178,386           175,910           
   Utility taxes 1,284,421        1,365,487        
   Franchise fees 641,751           607,791           
   Investment earnings 298,391           598,322           
   Gain (loss) on disposals of capital assets 103,652           66,317             
   Miscellaneous revenues 17,778             18,916             
   Transfers from component unit 20,885             53,817             

Total revenues 35,837,718      35,151,663      

Expenses
General government 3,699,945        3,747,727        
Public safety 14,636,956      13,611,275      
Street and sanitation 8,902,821        8,530,360        
Recreational 1,803,280        1,825,946        
Library 3,296,785        3,177,161        

Total expenses 32,339,787      30,892,469      

Increase in net position 3,497,931        4,259,194        
Net position, beginning of year 111,363,471    107,104,277    

Net position, end of year 114,861,402$  111,363,471$  

Analysis of the City’s Operations

Revenues
The City's primary source of revenue is real estate ad valorem taxes which comprised 40% of
total General Fund revenues in 2013. Real estate ad valorem taxes decreased $361,000
(02.6%) during 2013.

The second largest source of revenue for the City is sales and use tax which totaled 29% of
total General Fund revenues in 2013. Sales and use tax revenue increased by $466,000 (5%)
during 2013.

Following is a comparative analysis of the government-wide revenues and expenses:

10



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

         Increase
         2013           2012       (Decrease)

Real estate ad valorem tax 13,512,485$   13,873,635$    (361,150)$        
Sales and use tax 9,578,337       9,112,494        465,843           
Business licenses 2,492,623       2,223,912        268,711           
Personal property ad valorem tax 1,208,485       1,152,424        56,061             
Garbage service fees 35,589            39,235             (3,646)              
Utility taxes 1,284,421       1,365,487        (81,066)            
Investment earnings 138,162          199,151           (60,989)            
All other General Fund revenues 5,200,318       4,614,017        586,301           

Totals 33,450,420$   32,580,355$    870,065$         

Expenditures

         Increase
         2013           2012       (Decrease)

Salaries and benefits 18,768,059$   18,064,882$    703,177$         
Garbage contract fees 2,722,982       2,683,440        39,542             
Capital outlay 12,871,305     10,505,221      2,366,084        
Intergovernmental services 775,843          809,144           (33,301)            
Utilities and communication 868,123          796,630           71,493             
Development agreement payments 1,017,710       1,118,466        (100,756)          
Property and casualty insurance 271,722          268,207           3,515               
Legal and accounting 329,275          445,639           (116,364)          
Fuel and lubricants 371,067          373,113           (2,046)              
Debt service 358,928          361,388           (2,460)              
Birmingham Zoo, Inc. subsidy 75,000            75,000             0                      
All other 3,931,752       3,632,417        299,335           

Totals 42,361,766$  39,133,547$   3,228,219$      

•

Following is a comparative summary of the major General Fund revenues as reported in the
Governmental Funds financial statements:

General Budgetary Highlights (budgets are administered based on, and variances are
stated in terms of, the Governmental Fund accounting model)
Following is a summary of the pertinent General Fund budget variances:

Actual General Fund revenue exceeded the final budgeted revenue by $1,220,000 (3.8%).
The favorable (unfavorable) budget variance was comprised of the following:

Salaries and benefits increased $703,000 (4%) in 2013 to $18.8 million. Labor-related costs
made up (58%) of the City's total General Fund expenditures in 2013. Following is a
comparative summary of the major expenditure categories (all funds combined) of the City as
reported in the Governmental Funds financial statements.

11



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Real estate ad valorem tax 13,484,000$   13,512,485$    28,485$           
Sales and use tax 9,084,950       9,578,337        493,387           
Other taxes 944,433          1,038,515        94,082             
Utility taxes 1,412,850       1,284,421        (128,429)          
Road and bridge tax 578,790          565,066           (13,724)            
Construction permits 882,510          1,100,204        217,694           
Fines and forfeitures 498,940          559,465           60,525             
Charges for services 743,241          728,997           (14,244)            
Fees for road repairs 78,110            214,947           136,837           
Grants 12,062            15,755             3,693               
Investment earnings 126,777          138,162           11,385             
All other 4,383,846       4,714,066        330,220           

Totals 32,230,509$   33,450,420$    1,219,911$      

•

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Salaries and benefits 19,089,982$   18,768,059$    321,923$         
Garbage contract fees 2,773,980       2,722,982        50,998             
Intergovernmental services 835,712          775,843           59,869             
Utilities and communication 822,300          868,123           (45,823)            
Development agreement payments 960,000          1,017,710        (57,710)            
Fuel and lubricants 360,750          371,067           (10,317)            
Legal and accounting 423,700          329,275           94,425             
Street striping 145,000          148,215           (3,215)              
Street cut repairs 100,000          151,179           (51,179)            
Park and recreation special projects 0                     1,510               (1,510)              
All other 3,141,254       2,696,729        444,525           

Totals 28,652,678$   27,850,692$    801,986$         

•

•

Total General Fund expenditures were $802,000 (2.8%) less than the final budget. The
favorable (unfavorable) budget General Fund variance was comprised largely of the
following categories:

Total operating transfers out exceeded the amount budgeted by $1,589,792. This variance
resulted primarily from the Council's decision (after year-end) to transfer an additional
$1,625,000 from the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund.

The total excess of General Fund revenues and other financing sources over expenditures
in the amount of $1,083,257 was $473,045 more than budgeted.

12



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

•

Other Matters of Interest
Pension Plan

Cash and Temporary Investments

The final General Fund budgeted surplus of $610,212 was increased by $100,000 from the
amount originally budgeted in the amount of $510,212. The City Council passed one budget
ordinance during the year amending the 2013 budget. The budget amendments involved
various revisions to revenue and expenditure line items resulting from revenues exceeding
original estimates and other transactions that were not considered when the budget was
originally adopted.

As more fully described in Note 6, the City participates in a multi-employer, defined benefit
pension plan which is administered by the Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (RSA).
The most recent actuarial valuation data available and included in the accompanying report is
as of and for the year ended September 30, 2012.

As of September 30, 2012, the RSA reported an unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $20.5
million. The actuarial value of assets was set equal to the market value of assets as of
September 30, 2012.

Also out of concern about the unfunded actuarial accrued pension liability, the City Council has
authorized the accumulation of cash reserves in the Debt Service Fund which is available to pay
toward this obligation. As of September 30, 2013, the City had accumulated $3 million in the
Debt Service Fund for such purpose.

Due to concern about the unfunded actuarial accrued pension liability, the City Council has on
occassion contributed more than the actuarially determined annual required contribution (ARC).
During 2001, the City paid $2 million more into the pension trust fund than the ARC. In 2007,
the City paid an extra $7 million from the Debt Service Fund to the pension trust fund in order to
further reduce the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. In 2008, the City paid $300,000 more
than the actuarially determined ARC from its General Fund. Due in part to the investment
performance of the pension trust fund, the City Council has remitted only the ARC to the
pension trust since 2008.

As of September 30, 2013, the City reported cash and temporary investments of $28.3 million
(excluding the cash and investments held by the Section 115 trust and discretely presented
component unit) which consisted of unrestricted and donor-restricted cash and temporary
investments of $28.1 million and $212,000, respectively. Following is a summary of the carrying
value of the cash and investments by fund as of September 30, 2013.

13



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Unrestricted  Restricted 
General Fund 12,471,922$    211,803$         
Capital Projects Fund 10,874,418      0                      
Other Governmental Funds (Debt Service) 3,375,296        0                      
Other Governmental Funds (Special Revenue) 1,409,984        0                      
Section 115 irrevocable, retiree medical trust 0                      1,260,448        
Discretely presented component unit 0                      2,974,666        

Totals 28,131,620$    4,446,917$      

Capital Assets and Related Replacement Reserves

          2013            2012 
Capital expenditures 12,871,305$    10,505,221$    

Depreciation expense 4,532,754$      4,011,827$      

Transfers to the Capital Projects Fund: 
Funded depreciation policy 1,803,473$      1,668,332$      
Other transfers to fund current and future
    capital acquisitions 2,288,791        2,194,391        

Totals 4,092,264$      3,862,723$      

The $12.5 million General Fund cash and investment balance as of September 30, 2013,
represents 5 months of General Fund expenditures.

Regarding capital assets, the City Council has adopted a policy of funding its depreciation
expense in order to accumulate monies for the eventual replacement of property, plant and
equipment. As of September 30, 2013, the City had accumulated approximately $10.5 million in
the Capital Projects Fund for such purpose. Accumulated depreciation (considered by
management to be the benchmark with respect to measuring the funding status of the property,
plant and equipment replacement reserve) totaled $52 million as of year-end. Following is a
summary of the capital expenditures, depreciation expense and transfers to the Capital Projects
Fund for the years ended September 30:

The City maintains approximately 200 miles of paved roadways and alleys. The state shared
gasoline tax revenues, the City’s allocation of the Alabama Trust Fund Earnings, and other
monies transferred from the General Fund are used to fund the City’s street maintenance
program. Following is a summary of the revenues and expenditures as they pertain to the
maintenance of the City’s roadways:

14



DRAFT

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

          2013            2012 
Revenues 

State shared gasoline tax revenues 372,534$         377,541$         
Alabama Trust Fund Earnings 460,955           173,440           
Transfers from the City’s General Fund 100,000           100,000           
Investment earnings 3,702               2,966               

Total Revenues 937,191           653,947           
Street paving expenditures 736,582           588,958           

Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures 200,609           64,989             
Fund balance, beginning of the year 780,227           715,238           

Fund Balance, end of year 980,836$         780,227$         

Residential Garbage Service Fee Elimination

Requests for Additional Information
The financial report is designed to provide the residents of the City, investors, creditors and
other users with a general overview of the City’s finances. Inquiries about this report or
requests for additional information may be directed to the Director of Finance at the City of
Mountain Brook, P. O. Box 130009, Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213-0009. Inquiries about
The Emmet O’Neal Library Board and/or The Mountain Brook Library Foundation (the discretely
presented component unit) may be directed to the Library Director at 50 Oak Street, Mountain
Brook, Alabama 35213.

In 2007, the City adopted an ordinance (No. 1732) lowering the residential garbage service fees
by more than 70% effective January 1, 2007. In 2008, the City adopted another ordinance (No.
1769) eliminating the residential garbage service fee. In 2013 and 2012, the City realized
$35,589 and $39,235, respectively, in garbage service fees collected from its commercial
garbage accounts.

15



DRAFT

This page is blank intentionally.



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Government-wide Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2013 with Comparative Data

Component Unit
Library

Governmental Activities Foundation
2013 2012 2013

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and temporary investments 28,131,620$      35,077,817$      0$                      
Receivables 2,223,972          2,035,659          0                        
Notes receivable 77,585               74,548               0                        
Due from related organization 84,547               85,613               0                        
Inventory and prepaid expenses 144,431             119,313             0                        
Cash and temporary investments - restricted 211,803             179,551             2,974,666          

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 30,873,958        37,572,501        2,974,666          

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Notes receivable 136,395             213,980             0                        
Net pension asset 10,495,319        10,310,876        0                        
Net OPEB asset 1,436,943          1,035,347          0                        
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 60,809,683        39,247,108        174,721             
Land 18,698,005        18,698,005        552,611             
Construction in progress 2,725,561          15,976,721        0                        

TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS 94,301,906        85,482,037        727,332             

TOTAL ASSETS 125,175,864      123,054,538      3,701,998          

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1,639,909          1,893,707          0                        
Accrued salaries and wages 700,584             626,619             0                        
Accrued interest payable 79,681               83,459               0                        
Due to related organization 58,967               54,710               0                        
Other current liabilities 1,010,212          2,129,854          0                        
Long-term debt 205,000             195,000             0                        

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,694,353          4,983,349          0                        

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Compensated absences 2,735,109          2,616,008          0                        
Long-term debt 3,885,000          4,090,000          0                        
Other liabilities 0                        1,710                 0                        

TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 6,620,109          6,707,718          0                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,314,462        11,691,067        0                        

PENSION OBLIGATION (SEE NOTE 6)

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets (net of related debt) 78,143,249        69,636,834        727,332             
Restricted 1,443,216          1,287,828          2,974,666          
Unrestricted 35,274,937        40,438,809        0                        

TOTAL NET POSITION 114,861,402$    111,363,471$    3,701,998$        

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

17



DRAFT

Fees, Fines Operating Capital Grants
and Charges Grants and and

Expenses for Services Contributions  Contributions 

 Governmental activities:
     General government 3,699,945$      2,942,794$      924,949$         0$                    
     Public safety 14,636,956      2,565,561        4,507               278,123           
     Street and sanitation 8,902,821        273,460           0                      1,330,755        
     Recreational 1,803,280        110,565           45,400             41,932             
     Library 3,296,785        69,004             11,248             83,737             

Total 32,339,787$    5,961,384$      986,104$         1,734,547$      

Component unit:
   Library Foundation 31,503$           0$                    89,593$           6,000$             

General revenues:
   Taxes:
      Ad Valorem (real and personal property)
      Sales and use
      Other taxes
Utility taxes
Franchise fees
Investment earnings
Gain on sale/disposal of capital assets
Miscellaneous revenues
Transfers
                     Total general revenues and transfers
                     Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year

Net position at end of year

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Government-wide Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended September 30, 2013 with Comparative Data

Program Revenues

 Program Activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

18



DRAFT

2013 2012 2013 2012
Total Net Total Net
(Expense) (Expense)

Revenue and Revenue and Component Component
Changes in Changes in Unit (Library Unit (Library

  Net Position   Total Net  Foundation)  Foundation)  

167,798$        (149,449)$       0$                   0$                   
(11,788,765)    (11,442,376)    0                     0                     
(7,298,606)      (6,813,959)      0                     0                     
(1,605,383)      (1,630,143)      0                     0                     
(3,132,796)      (3,023,812)      0                    0                   

(23,657,752)$  (23,059,739)$  

64,090$          (15,517)$         

14,720,970     15,026,059     0                     0                     
9,889,449       9,406,314       0                     0                     

178,386          175,910          0                     0                     
1,284,421       1,365,487       0                     0                     

641,751          607,791          0                     0                     
298,391          598,322          314,076          355,682          
103,652          66,317            0                     0                     
17,778            18,916            3,897              3,772              
20,885            53,817            (20,885)           (53,817)           

27,155,683     27,318,933     297,088          305,637          
3,497,931       4,259,194       361,178          290,120          

111,363,471   107,104,277   3,340,820       3,050,700     

114,861,402$ 111,363,471$ 3,701,998$     3,340,820$     



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
September 30, 2013

Other Total
Capital Governmental Governmental

General Projects Funds Funds

ASSETS    
 Cash and temporary investments 12,471,922$    10,874,418$    4,785,280$      28,131,620$    
 Cash and temporary 
 investments - restricted 211,803           0                      0                      211,803           
 Receivables 1,841,394        336,208           46,370             2,223,972        

Due from related organizations 84,547             0                      0                      84,547             
 Inventory and prepaid expenses 144,431           0                      0                      144,431           
 

TOTAL ASSETS 14,754,097$    11,210,626$    4,831,650$      30,796,373$    

LIABILITIES
 Accounts payable 923,065$         703,706$         13,138$           1,639,909$      
 Accrued salaries and wages 712,405           0                      0                      712,405           
 Due to related organizations 58,967             0                      0                      58,967             
 Other liabilities 998,391           0                      0                      998,391           
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,692,828        703,706           13,138             3,409,672        

Pension obligation (see Note 6)

FUND BALANCES
 Nonspendable 144,431           0                      0                      144,431           
 Restricted 0                      0                      1,443,216        1,443,216        
 Committed 53,934             10,506,920      0                      10,560,854      
 Assigned 2,409,112        0                      3,375,296        5,784,408        
 Unassigned 9,453,792        0                      0                      9,453,792        

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 12,061,269      10,506,920      4,818,512        27,386,701      

TOTAL LIABILITIES
    AND FUND BALANCES 14,754,097$    11,210,626$    4,831,650$      30,796,373$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

19



DRAFT

Fund balance - total governmental funds 27,386,701$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the 
statement of net position are different because:

213,980           

Governmental capital assets 134,185,695    
Less accumulated depreciation (51,952,446)   82,233,249      

10,495,319      

1,436,943        

Governmental bonds payable (4,090,000)       
Compensated absences (2,735,109)       
Accrued interest payable (79,681)          (6,904,790)       

Net position of governmental activities 114,861,402$  

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported 
in the governmental funds balance sheet.

Net pension assets are not current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in the governmental funds 
balance sheet.

Net OPEB assets are not current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in the governmental funds 
balance sheet.

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current 
period and therefore, they are not reported in the 
governmental funds balance sheet.

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the 

Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2013

Note receivable charged to capital outlay in the fund 
financial statements less principal recoveries.

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

20



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2013

Capital
General Projects

Revenues:  
Taxes 27,187,309$   $                  0 
Licenses and permits 4,296,693      0 
Intergovernmental 84,547 0 
Charges for services 728,997         0 
Fines and forfeitures 559,465         0 
Grants 15,755           498,889           
Other operating revenues 577,654           251,061           

Total  revenues 33,450,420      749,950           

Expenditures:  
 Current (operating):

General government 5,067,000      9,919,627        
Public safety 12,884,029    1,383,880        
Street and sanitation 6,109,529      1,368,869        
Recreational 1,112,903      59,107            
Library 2,677,231      13,715            
Debt service:

Principal     0                     0 
Interest                      0                      0 

Total expenditures 27,850,692      12,745,198      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 5,599,728        (11,995,248)     

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 0                     4,092,264        
Operating transfers (out) (4,624,661)     (358,141)          
Operating transfers in - component unit 20,885           0 
Donations 87,305             276,500           

Total other financing sources (uses) (4,516,471)       4,010,623        

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 1,083,257      (7,984,625)       

Fund balances, beginning of year 10,978,012      18,491,545      

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 12,061,269$    10,506,920$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

21



DRAFT

 
 
 
 

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds
 

372,534$         27,559,843$    
0 4,296,693 
0 84,547 

313,297 1,042,294 
177,785 737,250 

0 514,644 
490,728           1,319,443        

1,354,344        35,554,714      

 

215,896           15,202,523      
455,257           14,723,166      
736,582           8,214,980        

0                      1,172,010        
0                      2,690,946        

195,000 195,000 
163,141           163,141           

1,765,876        42,361,766      

(411,532)          (6,807,052)       

890,538 4,982,802 
0 (4,982,802)       
0 20,885 
0                      363,805           

890,538           384,690           

479,006           (6,422,362)       

4,339,506        33,809,063      

4,818,512$      27,386,701$    



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balance of Governmental Funds to the Government-wide Statement of Activities

September 30, 2013

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (6,422,362)$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of activities are different because:

Construction loan principal receipts charged to other operating revenues
in the governmental funds and as a reduction in the note receivable
in the statement of net position. (74,548)            

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the government-wide statement of activities,
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense.

Expenditures for capital assets 12,871,306      
Less current year depreciation (4,532,754)     8,338,552        

Net book value of assets disposed during the year. (27,137)            

is to increase net position. 184,443           

to increase net position. 401,596           

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the 
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces
long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 195,000           

Repayment of development fee obligation in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces
long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 1,017,710        

Some expenses reported in the government-wide statement
of activities do not require the use of current financial 
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures
in governmental funds.

Change in long-term compensated absences (119,101)          
Change in accrued interest payable 3,778             (115,323)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 3,497,931$      

The net effect of transactions involving net pension assets 

The net effect of transactions involving net OPEB assets is 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

22



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Fund
September 30

2013 2012
ASSETS
Certificates of deposit, at fair value 1,260,448$ 925,335$     

     TOTAL ASSETS 1,260,448  925,335       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 0                 0                 

     TOTAL LIABILITIES 0                 0                 

     NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST FOR
          OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 1,260,448$ 925,335$     

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

23



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Fund
Year Ended September 30

2013 2012
ADDITIONS
Contributions
  Employer 670,923$     654,828$     
  Plan members 128,202       126,308       
Investment earnings 15,375       11,762         

     TOTAL ADDITIONS 814,500       792,898       

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits 479,125       476,136       
Administrative expense 262             5,000          

     TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 479,387     481,136       

     NET INCREASE 335,113       311,762       

Net position held in trust for other post-employment
  benefits, beginning of year 925,335     613,573       

     NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST FOR OTHER 
       POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, END OF YEAR 1,260,448$ 925,335$     

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

24



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

A. Accounting and reporting

B. Related organizations

2013 2012

General Fund
Community athletic fields shared maintenance 84,547$        85,613$       
High school sewer treatment facility maintenance 7,200           7,200           

            Total 91,747$        92,813$       

2013 2012

General Fund
Community athletic fields shared maintenance 84,547$        85,613$       

            Total 84,547$        85,613$       

The City of Mountain Brook, Alabama (the City) was incorporated on March 24, 1942. The City operates under
the Council-Manager form of government organized to comply with the provisions of Title 11, Chapter 43,
Sections 20-22 of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended. The City Council is composed of five officials all of
whom are elected at-large. The members of the City Council and Mayor hold office for four year terms. The
terms of office for the elected officials are staggered (beginning in October 2004) with Council places 1, 3, and 5
up for election in even years and Council places 2 and 4 and the Mayor’s office up for election in odd years.
The next election is scheduled for August 26, 2014. The City Manager is appointed by the City Council as the
executive officer to serve at the will and pleasure of that body. The Mayor and members of the City Council
receive no salary or other compensation for their service to the City.

The City of Mountain Brook, Alabama complies with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). GAAP
includes all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. In the government-
wide financial statements, Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and Accounting
Principles Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 30, 1989, have been applied unless those
pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which case, GASB prevails. The
accounting and reporting framework and the more significant accounting policies are discussed in subsequent
subsections of this note.

The City is also responsible for appointing the Board of Trustees of the Mountain Brook Board of Education (the
Board). However, the City has no control or influence in the presentation or adoption of the Board's annual
operating budget; the City is not responsible for any budget deficits incurred by the Board; and the Board has
the authority to issue debt securities which are neither secured by the City's revenues or obligations of the City.
Accordingly, the financial statements of the Board are not presented in the accompanying financial statements
because the City is not considered to be financially accountable for the Board.

During years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the City reported the following revenues from the Board:

At September 30, 2013 and 2012, the City reported receivables from the Board in the amounts as follows (See
Note 3):

The City receives 36.7 mills of the 99.0 mill property tax (Note 1.R.) from Jefferson County. From the 36.7 mills,
the City transfers 10.6 mills to the Board. For financial reporting purposes, the City includes the net property tax
of 26.1 mills in its General Fund revenues. At September 30, 2013 and 2012, the City owed the Board $58,967
and $54,710, respectively, for its share of property taxes which is included in other liabilities of the General
Fund.

25



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2013 2012

The Board of Education 41,882$        42,042$       
Mountain Brook Athletics, Inc. 20,941         21,021         
Mountain Brook Soccer Club, Inc. 20,941         21,021         
Charges for services (MBSPF) 84,732         84,732         

  Total revenues 168,496       168,816       

Recreational (operating and maintenance) 126,394       126,126       
Capital outlay ($1,952,936 cumulative) 0                  0                  

  Total expenditures 126,394       126,126       

Other financing sources (uses), net
Transfers to City General Fund (42,850)        (42,690)        

   Net other financing sources (42,850)        (42,690)        

(748)              0                   

0                  0                  

Fund balance (deficit) at 
   the end of the year (748)$            0$                 

In 1998, the City agreed to serve as the fiscal agent for the third phase of the Board's improvements to the
community athletic fields. The improvements totaling approximately $1 million were financed through the
issuance of Series 1998-A general obligation warrants. The athletic fields are maintained by the City's Parks
and Recreation Department. The routine maintenance of the fields are shared by the City (1/3), the Board (1/3),
two unaffiliated local athletic groups - Mountain Brook Athletics, Inc. (1/6), and Mountain Brook Soccer Club, Inc.
(1/6).

In 2005, the City entered into a long-term lease agreement with the Mountain Brook Sports Park Foundation
(MBSPF), a non-profit organization. Under the terms of the agreement, MBSPF was granted the right to use
City land to be used primarily for community soccer fields. MBSPF paid for the construction of such fields from
private donations and a $500,000 loan from the City. The construction costs totaled $1,952,936. In 2009,
MBSPF constructed a restroom/concession stand at the complex which was financed from private donations, a
contribution from the City in the amount of $62,500, and a loan from the City in the amount of $62,500. The
outstanding loan balance of $213,980 and $288,528 has been presented as a note receivable in the statement
of net position as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

During the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, the City reported the following transactions in
conjunction with the above joint ventures which are included in the General Fund in the accompanying financial
statements:

Revenues

Expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
   and other financing sources over 

   expenditures and other assets

Fund balance (deficit) at the beginning of the year

The City and School Board fulfilled their respective financial commitments in 2005. The general obligation
warrants were repaid in 2008 with funds donated to the City for that purpose.

26



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

C. Government-wide Financial Statements

D. Fund Financial Statements

1.

2.

Governmental funds
A. General Fund

B. Special Revenue Funds

Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-
exchange revenues.

Another related organization is The Mountain Brook Library Foundation ("the Foundation"). The Foundation is a
non-profit organization formed for the benefit of the Emmet O'Neal Library, a department of the City. Several of
the Foundation's Board members are also members of The Emmet O'Neal Library Board. The Foundation has
received contributions from individual, corporation, and private foundations that were utilized to construct,
furnish, and equip the City's library facilities. These facilities were contributed to the City of Mountain Brook
during 2001, and are included in the accompanying financial statements.

The financial position and results of operations of the Foundation are reported as a component unit of the City in
the accompanying government-wide financial statements. A copy of the Foundation's audited financial
statements may be obtained from The Emmet O'Neal Library Board, 50 Oak Street, Mountain Brook, Alabama
35213.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information about the reporting government
as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds and component units that are
fiduciary in nature.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expense of a given function or segment
are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function
or segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or
segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as
general revenues.

Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for in a separate set of self-balancing accounts that
constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditure/expenses. Funds are organized into
three major categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary (the City had no proprietary funds at year end).
An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental categories. A fund is considered major if it is the
primary operating fund of the City or meets the following criteria:

Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental fund are at least
ten percent (10%) of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type; and

Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual governmental fund are at least
five percent (5%) of the corresponding total for all governmental funds combined.  

The funds of the financial reporting entity are described below:

The General Fund is the principal fund of the City and is always classified as a major fund. It is used to
account for all revenues and expenditures applicable to the general operations of city government which are
not properly accounted for in another fund. All general operating revenues which are not restricted or
designated as to their use by outside sources are recorded in the General Fund.

The City may also elect to present a fund as major if it does not meet the above criteria to emphasize the
importance of a certain fund's activity.

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted
or committed to expenditures for specified purposes.

27



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

C. Debt Service Funds

D. Capital Projects Funds

Major and non-major funds

E. Fund Balance

The Debt Service Fund is used to account for financial resources related the City’s debt service. In addition,
the City is accumulating resources in the Debt Service Fund for the possible future repayment of its
unfunded pension obligation (see Note 6).

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for, and demonstrate compliance with, legal and contractual
provisions and to compile data related to financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
major fixed assets other than those financed by special assessments.

The General Fund and Capital Projects Funds are classified as major funds and are described above. The City
has elected to present all Capital Projects Funds as major funds to reflect the importance of their activity
separately from other non-major funds regardless of whether these funds meet the reporting criteria described
above.

The Special Revenue Funds and Debt Service Fund are classified as non-major and are described above.

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to
observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The classifications are
as follows:

Nonspendable - The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent because
they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in
spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash. It also includes the
long-term amount of intrafund loans, if any.

Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are
either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation (City ordinances).

Enabling legislation authorizes the City to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise mandate payment of resources
(from external resource providers) and includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be
used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. Legal enforceability means that the City can
be compelled by an external party such as residents, public interest groups, or the judiciary to use resources
created by enabling legislation only for the purposes specified by the legislation.

Committed - The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the
specific purposes imposed by formal action (ordinance) of the City Council. Those committed amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by
taking the same type of action (ordinance) it employed to previously commit those amounts. In contrast to
fund balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, the committed fund balance classification may be
redeployed for other purposes with appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of committed
amounts are imposed by the City Council, separate from the authorization to raise the underlying revenue;
therefore, compliance with these constraints are not considered to be legally enforceable. Committed fund
balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been
specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned – Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for
specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental
funds other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not
restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned amounts represent intended uses established by City
Council or a City official delegated that authority by City ordinance.

28



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Other
Capital Governmental

Fund Balances General Projects Funds Total
Nonspendable:

Prepaid expenses 80,069$       0$                0$                 80,069$       
Inventory 64,362        0                 0                  64,362         

Total Nonspendable 144,431      0                 0                  144,431       

Restricted:
Emergency Communication District (E-911) 0                 0                 462,380       462,380       
State Shared Gasoline Taxes:
   5 Cent 0                 0                 148,194       148,194       
   7 Cent 0                 0                 595,980       595,980       
   4 Cent 0                 0                 209,743       209,743       
   2 Cent 0                 0                 26,919         26,919         

Total Restricted 0                 0                 1,443,216    1,443,216     

Committed:
Capital Projects 0                 10,506,920 0                  10,506,920   
Library Endowment 53,934        0                 0                  53,934         

Total Committed 53,934        10,506,920 0                  10,560,854   

Assigned:
Emergency Reserve Fund 2,238,123   0                 0                  2,238,123     
Debt Service Fund 0                 0                 3,375,296    3,375,296     
Asset Forfeitures 20,100        0                 0                  20,100         
Library Book Fund 139,919      0                 0                  139,919       
Community Fund 10,970        0                 0                  10,970         

Total Assigned 2,409,112   0                 3,375,296    5,784,408     

Unassigned 9,453,792     0                   0                   9,453,792     

Total Fund Balances 12,061,269$ 10,506,920$ 4,818,512$   27,386,701$ 

F. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

Unassigned - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all
spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental funds, the unassigned
classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for
which amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.

The City applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within
unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned
amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance
classifications could be used.

The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental funds and all other governmental funds are
presented below:

Measurement focus is a term used to describe "which" transactions are recorded within the various financial
statements. Basis of accounting refers to "when" transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement
focus applied.

29



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Measurement focus

Basis of accounting

G.

H. Worker's compensation

I. Cash and temporary investments

J. Receivables

On the Government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, governmental activities are
presented using the "economic resources" measurement focus. The accounting objectives of this measurement
focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net position (or cost recovery), financial position,
and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are
reported.

In the fund financial statements, the "current financial resources" measurement focus or the "economic
resources" measurement focus is used as appropriate. All governmental funds utilize a "current financial
resources" measurement focus. Only current financial assets and liabilities are generally included on their
balance sheets. Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable financial
resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available spendable
financial resources at the end of the period.

In the Government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, governmental activities are
presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are
recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or economic asset used.
Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like
transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Under this modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when "measurable and available".
Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount. Available means collectible
within the current period or generally within sixty days after year end. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest
which are reported when due.

Encumbrances
In the Fund Financial Statements, the City does not utilize encumbrance accounting techniques which means
that fund balances are not committed or assigned upon the issuance of purchase orders. Expenditures are
recorded upon the impairment of an asset.

The City provides workers' compensation coverage to its employees as required by law. The City has elected to
self-insure with respect to its workers' compensation claims risk and has contracted with a third-party
administrator to provide claims management services. In order to limit its exposure to claims risk, the City has
purchased excess loss insurance coverage. The excess loss insurance pays the remainder of statutory
obligations over the first $250,000 for specific claims and all claims cost in excess of $811,977 in the aggregate
incurred during a policy year. Workers' compensation cost charged by the City during 2013 and 2012 was
approximately $155,000 and $187,000, respectively. The accompanying financial statements include an
estimated accrual of unpaid workers' compensation claims as of September 30, 2013 and September 30, 2012
in the amount of $690,200 and 686,100, respectively.

Cash resources of various funds are combined to form a cash and investment pool. Interest from this pool is
allocated monthly to each fund based on their respective month-end cash and investment balances. Restricted
cash and temporary investments of $211,803 and $179,551 as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively,
represent temporary and permanently restricted funds donated to the Emmet O'Neal Library, a department of
the City.

In the government-wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet
received. Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and the periodic
aging of accounts receivable. Major receivable balances for the governmental activities include sales and use
taxes and road and bridge taxes.

30



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

K. Equity classifications
Government-wide Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

1.

2.

3.

Fund Statements

L. Long-term debt 

M. Compensated absences

In the fund financial statements, material receivables in governmental funds include the receivables mentioned
in the preceding paragraph and other similar intergovernmental revenues since they are usually both
measurable and available. Non-exchange transactions collectible but not available are deferred in the fund
financial statements in accordance with modified accrual, but not deferred in the government-wide financial
statements in accordance with the accrual basis. Interest and investment earnings are recorded when earned
generally if paid within 60 days since they would be considered both measurable and available.

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes,
or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

Restricted - Constraints placed on the use either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

Unrestricted - All other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "invested in capital assets,
net of related debt".

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified in accordance with
section E. of this note.

The accounting treatment of long-term debt depends on whether the assets are reported in the government-
wide or fund financial statements.

All long-term debts to be repaid from governmental resources are reported as liabilities in the government-wide
statements.  The long-term debt consists primarily of bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.

Long-term debt for governmental funds is not reported as a liability in the fund financial statements. The debt
proceeds are reported as other financing sources and payment of principal and interest reported as
expenditures.

Full-time City employees earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month of service and can accumulate up to
sixty days of sick leave. Vacation leave is earned at graduated rates based on length of service (one day per
month of service initially, one and one-half days per month of service after twelve years, and two days per
month of service after twenty-five years). Employees are allowed to accumulate up to forty days of vacation
leave (sixty for sworn police officers and firefighters).

A full-time employee may retire after twenty-five years of creditable service or after attaining sixty years of age
with at least ten years of creditable service. A retiring employee or separating employee in good standing
receives termination pay equivalent to their unused vacation pay not to exceed forty days. In addition, a retiring
employee or separating employee in good standing with five years of service receives termination pay based on
50% of their accrued sick leave limited to thirty days pay.

The Government-wide Statement of Net Position includes a noncurrent liability for compensated absences in
the amount of $2,735,109 as of September 30, 2013 and $2,616,008 as of September 30, 2012. The City paid
$11,821 and $9,279 after September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, representing all vested compensated
absences to employees who retired or otherwise ended their employment with the City prior to year end. Such
amounts have been reported as current liabilities in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities.

31



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

N. Longevity pay plan

O. Holiday pay

P. Pension expense

Q. Intrafund transactions

Other 
Capital Governmental 

General Projects Funds
Operating transfers in (out):  

Capital transfers for the payment of current
year asset acquisitions and the future
replacement of capital assets (4,092,264)$ 4,092,264$   0$                

Corrections fund transfer to fund operations (132,397)     0                  132,397       
Debt service transfer for the accumulation of

funds for the future repayment of City
obligations (300,000)     0                  300,000       

Debt service fund transfer for the repayment of
General Obligation principal and interest 0                 (358,141)      358,141       

Gasoline tax fund transfer to supplement the
annual street resurfacing program (100,000)       0                   100,000        

Operating transfers, net (4,624,661)$  3,734,123$   890,538$      

The City has a longevity pay plan which covers all full-time employees that have completed a minimum of six
years of service as of September 30. Longevity pay for a qualifying employee is the product of the percentage
factor (which is based on the number of years of completed services) and their annual rate of pay. The
percentage factor is 1.5% after six years and increases 0.5% per year to a maximum rate of 8.5% which is
attained after twenty years of service. The plan also limits the City's maximum annual longevity pay to a total of
$440,000 in 2013 and $420,000 in 2012. The City has adopted the informal policy of liquidating the liability for
longevity pay in November of each year. The liability for longevity pay as of September 30, 2013 and
September 30, 2012 reported in the Government-Wide and Fund financial statements totaled $434,258 and
$411,770, respectively.

Holiday pay can be accumulated (principally police and fire personnel) up to 80 hours. Accumulations in excess
of 80 hours are not permitted and such time is paid to employees as earned.

All full-time employees participate in the City's defined benefit pension plan. The City funds pension expense as
actuarially determined and required by the plan (Note 6).

During the course of normal operations, the City incurs numerous transactions between funds to provide
services, construct or acquire assets, service debt, etc. These transactions are generally reported as operating
transfers except in instances where the transfer represents the reimbursement to a fund for expenditures
incurred for the benefit of another fund. Following is a summary of the operating transfers between funds during
the year ended September 30, 2013:

Following is a summary of the operating transfers between funds during the year ended September 30, 2012:

32



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Other 
Capital Governmental 

General Projects Funds
Operating transfers in (out):  

Capital transfers for the payment of current
year asset acquisitions and the future
replacement of capital assets (3,784,954)$ 3,862,723$   (77,769)$      

Corrections fund transfer to fund operations (152,134)     0                  152,134       
Debt service transfer for the accumulation of

funds for the future repayment of City
obligations (300,000)     0                  300,000       

Debt service fund transfer for the repayment of
General Obligation principal and interest 0                 (360,600)      360,600       

Gasoline tax fund transfer to supplement the
annual street resurfacing program (100,000)       0                   100,000        

Operating transfers, net (4,337,088)$  3,502,123$   834,965$      

R. Property taxes

Residential owner occupant 10%
All other 20%

Amount Per
$100 of

Assessed 

               Mills Value

State of Alabama                 6.5  $            0.65 
Jefferson County Commission               13.5                1.35 
County-wide school tax                 8.2                0.82 
Mountain Brook Board of Education               44.7                4.47 
City of Mountain Brook General Fund               26.1                2.61 

               99.0  $            9.90 

Intrafund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the
Statement of Net Position. The purpose of the intrafund receivable balance, if any, to non-major governmental
funds from the General fund is for the reimbursement of operating expenditures paid from non-major
governmental funds on behalf of the General fund.

Permanent reallocations of resources between funds of the reporting entity are classified as intrafund transfers.
For the purposes of the Statement of Activities, all intrafund transfers between individual governmental funds
have been eliminated.

All ad valorem (real property) taxes levied by municipalities in Jefferson County, Alabama are assessed by the
Jefferson County Tax Assessor and collected by the Jefferson County Tax Collector. The Jefferson County Tax
Assessor attaches taxes as enforceable liens on property as of September 30 and taxes become due October 1
through December 31. Property taxes not paid by January 1 are considered delinquent. Personal property
taxes are also collected by the Jefferson County Tax Collector and are due throughout the year. After collecting
property taxes, the Jefferson County Tax Collector remits the City's portion by check monthly. Taxes collected
by the Jefferson County Tax Collector before the fiscal year end but remitted to the City after September 30 are
accrued in the General Fund.

For years beginning October 1, 1996, assessed values are calculated by multiplying the market value by the
following percentages:

Millage distributions for real and personal property located within the City's corporate limits are as follows:

Entity

33



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

S. Major revenue sources and taxpayers

T. Expenditures/Expenses

In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows:

Governmental Funds - By Character: Current (further classified by function and includes
    Capital Outlay)
Debt Service

U. Inventory

V. Comparative Data

W.Fixed Assets

-        Buildings 20-50 years
-        Improvements 10-50 years
-        Machinery and Equipment  3-20 years
-        Infrastructure  5-75 years

Fund financial statements

The City's primary sources of revenue include ad valorem taxes, sales and use taxes, and business licenses.
Collectively, these taxes and licenses totaled approximately $26.9 million (79%) and $26.6 million (82%) of the
total General Fund revenues during the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Of the City's
taxpayers, Macy's Department Store, Alabama Power Company, Western Supermarket, Publix (grocery store),
Whole Foods, Energen Corporation (gas company), Diamonds Direct, and Marcus Cable (doing business as
Charter Communications) collectively, provided approximately $6.33 million (19%) and $6.26 million (19%) of
the City's total General Fund revenues during the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for the governmental activities.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources.

Inventory items are valued at cost which approximates market. The cost of inventory is recorded as
expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.

Comparative total data for the prior year has been presented in selected sections of the accompanying financial
statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in the City's financial position and operations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to previous year's presentation to conform with the current year
presentation. Such reclassifications have had no net effect on the statements previously reported.

The accounting treatment over property, plant, and equipment (fixed assets) depends on whether the assets are
reported in the government-wide or fund financial statements. In the government-wide financial statements,
fixed assets with initial individual costs of more than $1,000 (amounts not rounded) and an estimated useful life
in excess of one year are accounted for as capital assets. All fixed assets are valued at historical cost, or
estimated historical cost if actual is unavailable, except for donated fixed assets which are recorded at their
estimated fair value at the date of donation.  Historical cost was used to value the majority of the assets.

Prior to October 1, 2003, governmental funds' infrastructure assets were not capitalized. These assets have
been valued at historical cost or estimated historical costs.

Depreciation of all exhaustible fixed assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of Activities,
with accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation is provided over the
assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The range of estimated useful lives
by type of asset is as follows:

In the fund financial statements, fixed assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as
expenditures of the governmental function upon acquisition.

34



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

X. Management estimates

Y. Subsequent events

2.
At September 30, 2013, the City had the following cash and investments and maturities:

Investment Maturity in Years
Fair Less 

Value Than 1 1 - 2 3 - 5
Cash on-hand 2,760$         2,760$         0$                 0$                
Bank deposits 10,519,374 10,519,374 0                  0                  
Investments:

Cash and money market accounts 130,115      130,115      0                  0                  
Certificates of deposit 17,660,931 6,519,706   9,426,773    1,714,452     
U. S. Treasury bonds/notes 400             400             0                  0                  
576 shares VMC common stock (donated) 29,843          0                   0                   29,843          

28,343,423$ 17,172,355$ 9,426,773$   1,744,295$   

Investment Maturity in Years
Fair Less 

Value Than 1 1 - 2 3 - 5
Bank deposits 74,020$       74,020$       0$                 0$                
Money market 252,024      252,024      0                  0                  
Mutual funds 2,648,622     2,648,622     0                   0                   

2,974,666$   2,974,666$   0$                 0$                 

Portion of
Maturity Portfolio

Less than one year 60.59%
1 - 2 years 33.26%
3 - 5 years 6.15%

100.00%

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
contingent liabilities and the reported amount of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Deposits and investments, interest rate risk, credit risk, and custodial risk

Total portfolio

At September 30, 2013, the discretely presented component unit had the following cash and investments and
maturities:

Total portfolio

Interest Rate Risk. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the
City's investment policy restricts General Fund investments to those with maturities of two years or less and Capital
Project and Debt Service Fund investments to those with maturities of five years or less. Cash and investment
maturities (excluding the discretely presented component unit) as of September 30, 2013, were as follows:

The City has evaluated subsequent events through the date of issuance of these financial statements.

Credit Risk. Act No. 2000-748 of the Code of Alabama requires that all public deposits held in banks be secured
by collateral pledged to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement (SAFE) collateral pool established in the
Office of the State Treasurer. The City's policy is to deposit funds only in financial institutions that are qualified
public depositories of the State of Alabama SAFE program. All of the City's bank deposits are either insured by
Federal Depository Insurance (FDIC) or collateralized in accordance with Act 2000-748. Neither the City or
Foundation had uninsured bank deposits at September 30, 2013.

35



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

Fair Portion of
Description/Creditor Value Portfolio
Iberia Bank (cash deposit accounts) $  8,935,095 31.52%
Regions Bank (cash deposit accounts)     1,584,279 5.59%
Morgan Stanley (cash, deposits, money market funds)         130,115 0.46%
All other (cash on-hand, U.S. Treasuries, and common stock)           33,003 0.12%
Various financial institutions - certificates of deposit   17,660,931 62.31%

$28,343,423 100.00%

Fair Portion of
Description CUSIP Value Portfolio
Bank demand deposit accounts $        74,020 2.49%
Prime Money Market Fund 252,024 8.47%
Chase Growth Fund (27,343.905 shares) CHASX 431,487 14.51%
Dodge & Cox International Stock (8,796.119 shares) DODFX 356,946 12.00%
Longleaf Partner Family Value Tr #133 (13,605.228 shares) LLPFX 432,238 14.53%
PIMCO All Asset Fund Institutional Class (42,929.163 shares) PAAIX 524,594 17.64%
PIMCO Low Duration Fund Institutional Class (31,678.827 shares) PTLDX 326,292 10.97%
Vanguard Convert Securities (40,241.617 shares) VCVSX 577,065 19.39%

$  2,974,666 100.00%

3. Receivables
Receivables at September 30, consisted of the following:

2013
Other

General Capital Governmental 2012
Fund Projects Funds Total Total

Taxes 1,732,309$  0$                34,442$       1,766,751$   1,755,747$   
E-911 surcharge 0                 0                 11,928        11,928         35,823         
Board of Education 84,547        0                 0                 84,547         85,613         
Grants 13,118        304,134      0                 317,252       150,349       
Other 95,967          32,074          0                   128,041        93,740          

Totals 1,925,941$   336,208$      46,370$        2,308,519$   2,121,272$   

The City's investment policy allows for up to 100% of the portfolio to be invested in direct obligations of the U.S.
government or federal agencies thereof in accordance with Sec. 11-81-19 and 11-81-21 of the Code of Alabama.
At September 30, 2013, the City had invested $17.7 million in certificates of deposit and $400 in direct obligations
of the U. S. Treasury. Of the City's $17.7 million investment in certificates of deposit, the City had one instance
where it had invested more than $250,000 with a financial institution located outside of the State of Alabama. As a
result, the City had $48,000 of uninsured certificates of deposit at September 30, 2013. Following is a summary of
the City's top holdings in its cash and investment portfolio:

The discretely presented component unit does not follow the investment policies of the City. Their policy allows for
investments that may potentially produce the highest returns on capital. The following are the holdings in the
discretely presented component unit's cash and investment portfolio:

Custodial Risk. For an investment, custodial risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an
outside party. The City's investments in certificates of deposit and U. S. Treasury Notes are held in trust by the
City's custodians in the name of the custodian. The discretely presented component unit's investments are held in
book entry form and in trust by its custodian in the name of the custodian.

36



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

4. Capital assets

Balance at Disposals/ Balance at
September 30, Retirements/ September 30,

2012 Additions Completed 2013

Capital assets, 
  not being depreciated:

Land 18,698,005$ 0$                0$                 18,698,005$ 
Construction in progress 15,976,721   10,539,226   (23,790,386)  2,725,561     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 34,674,726   10,539,226   (23,790,386)  21,423,566   

Capital assets,
  being depreciated:

Land improvements 3,039,881   0                 0                  3,039,881     
Buildings and improvements 10,461,674 78,181        23,516,369 34,056,224   
Machinery and equipment 19,556,391 1,885,512   (371,165)      21,070,738   
Infrastructure 54,403,129   368,387        (176,230)       54,595,286   

Total capital assets, being depreciated 87,461,075   2,332,080     22,968,974   112,762,129 

Less accumulated
  depreciated for:

Land improvements 353,808      25,789        0                  379,597       
Buildings and improvements 3,061,532   682,708      0                  3,744,240     
Machinery and equipment 14,197,541 1,551,590   (618,045)      15,131,086   
Infrastructure 30,601,086   2,272,667     (176,230)       32,697,523   

Total accumulated depreciation 48,213,967   4,532,754     (794,275)       51,952,446   

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 39,247,108   (2,200,674)    23,763,249   60,809,683   

Governmental activities capital assets, net 73,921,834$ 8,338,552$   (27,137)$       82,233,249$ 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the primary government as follows:

2013 2012
Governmental activities:

General government 144,200$     39,457$        
Public safety 1,221,470   884,739       
Street and sanitation 1,873,655   1,897,927    
Recreational 686,142      640,412       
Library 607,287      549,292       

Total depreciation expense 4,532,754$   4,011,827$   

The City loaned the Mountain Brook Sports Park Foundation (MBSPF), a nonprofit organization established to
raise funds for the exclusive benefit of Mountain Brook Soccer Club, $500,000 for their initial (2005) construction of
athletic playing fields and $62,500 for their (2009) construction of a concession/restroom facility at the fields (Note
1.B.). The terms of the loan were renegotiated in May 2011. The loan is to be repaid in sixty (60) monthly
installments of $7,061 including interest at 4% beginning in June 2011. The outstanding balance reported in the
statement of net position at September 30, 2013 and 2012 totaled $213,980 and $288,528, respectively. The
current portion reported at September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $77,585 and $74,548, respectively. The City
collected interest totaling $10,184 in  2013 and $13,103 in 2012.

Following is a summary of the changes in the City's capital assets for the year ended September 30, 2013:

37



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

5. Long-term debt
Long-term debt outstanding as of September 30, 2013, consisted of the following:

Balance

4,090,000$   

Total 4,090,000$   

General obligation warrant balances at October 1, 2012 4,285,000$   
Principal payments:

$5,000,000 General Obligation Warrants, Series 2007 (195,000)      

General obligation warrant balances at September 30, 2013 4,090,000$   

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
205,000$     155,391$      360,391$     
210,000      147,350       357,350       
220,000      139,019       359,019       
230,000      130,300       360,300       
240,000      121,194       361,194       

2,985,000   625,653       3,610,653     

4,090,000$  1,318,907$   5,408,907$   

6. Pension plan
A. Plan description

2017

Substantially all employees are members of the Employees' Retirement System of Alabama (RSA).
Membership is mandatory for covered or eligible employees of the City. Benefits vest after 10 years of
creditable service. Vested employees may retire with full benefits at age 60 or after 25 years of service.
Retirement benefits are calculated by two methods with the retiree receiving payment under the method that
yields the highest monthly benefit. The methods are (1) Minimum Guaranteed, and (2) Formula, of which the
Formula method usually produces the highest monthly benefit. Under this method, retirees are allowed
2.0125% of their average final salary (highest three of the last ten years) for each year of service. Disability
retirement benefits are calculated in the same manner. Pre-retirement death benefits in the amount of the
annual salary for the fiscal year preceding death is provided to plan members with more than one year of
creditable service or $5,000 for those with less than one year of service.

$5,000,000 General Obligation Warrants, Series 2007 dated October 1, 2007 maturing annually on 
October 1 through the year 2027 plus interest payable on April 1 and October 1 at rate rates ranging 
from 3.875% to 4.0% (Note 9)

The total interest paid by the City during the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 relative to general
obligation warrants was $163,141 and $170,600, respectively. The current debt of the City supports the general
government function and, as such, all interest expense has been charged to this function in the Government-wide
Statement of Activities. The total amount of interest charged to expense of the general government function for the
years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was $159,363 and $166,919, respectively.

2018

Totals

Following is a summary of long-term debt principal transactions for the year ended September 30, 2013:

The future principal and interest maturities on the general obligation warrants by fiscal year are as follows:

2014
2015
2016

Thereafter

The City contributes to the Employees' Retirement System of Alabama, an agent multiple-employer public
employee retirement system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for various state
agencies, departments, and municipalities.

38



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

B. Funding

Following are the pension contributions for each fiscal year since January 1, 1995:

Year Ended
September Employer

30  Contribution Employer Employee Combined
1995* 5.48% 254,000$     232,000$     486,000$      
1996 5.48% 368,000      336,000      704,000       
1997 6.70% 515,000      390,000      905,000       
1998 8.25% 624,000      390,000      1,014,000    
1999 9.45% 729,000      394,000      1,123,000    
2000 9.45% 828,000      447,000      1,275,000    
2001 9.45% 2,853,000   509,000      3,362,000    
2002 9.45% 898,000      537,000      1,435,000    
2003 8.31% 818,000      556,000      1,374,000    
2004 9.83% 996,000      583,000      1,579,000    
2005 10.90% 1,168,000   613,000      1,781,000    
2006 10.90% 1,209,000   640,000      1,849,000    
2007 11.51% 8,303,000   665,000      8,968,000    
2008 7.98% 1,308,000   697,000      2,005,000    
2009 9.06% 1,140,000   719,000      1,859,000    
2010 8.84% 1,091,000   723,000      1,814,000    
2011 9.96% 1,357,000   808,000      2,165,000    
2012 8.42% 1,016,000   999,000      2,015,000    
2013 9.65% 1,226,000   1,108,000   2,334,000    

* Nine month period from January 1, 1995 through September 30, 1995.

For the year ended September 30, 2013, the City's total compensation was approximately $14.2 million and the
City's total covered compensation used to determine the City's pension contribution was approximately $13.8
million. The City's policy is to fund the required contribution as actuarially determined by the RSA and stated as
a percentage of eligible compensation; however, during 2008, 2007 and 2001, the City elected to contribute
$300,000, $7 million and $2 million, respectively, more than the actuarially determined required amount.

The Employees' Retirement System was established as of October 1, 1945, under the provisions of Act 515,
Acts of Alabama 1945, for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other specified benefits for State
employees, State police, and on an elective basis to all cities, counties, towns, and quasi-public organizations.
The responsibility for general administration and operation of the Employees' Retirement System is vested in
the Board of Control. Benefit provisions are established by the Code of Alabama 1975, Sections 36-27-1
through 36-27-103, as amended, Sections 36-27-120 through 36-27-139, as amended, and Sections 36-27B-1
through Sections 36-27B-6. Authority to amend the plan rests with the Legislature of Alabama. However, the
Legislature has granted the member agencies the authority to accept or reject various Cost-Of-Living-
Adjustments (COLAs) granted to retirees.

The Retirement Systems of Alabama issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information for the Employees' Retirement System of Alabama. That
report may be obtained by writing to The Retirement Systems of Alabama, 201 South Union Street (P. O. Box
302150), Montgomery, Alabama 36130-2150.

In 2012, the Alabama Legislature adopted Act 2012-377 which created a new defined benefit pension plan tier
("tier 2") for employees with no previous creditable retirement service hired on or after January 1, 2013.
Effective October 1, 2011, the City elected to come under the provisions of Act 2011-676 which requires that
covered employees contribute to the pension plan at the rate of 7.5% and 6% of compensation for tier 1 and 2
employees, respectively (8.5% for tier 1 and 7% for tier 2 sworn police officers and firefighters). In addition, the
RSA requires that the City remit monthly matching contributions to the pension plan. The City's matching
contributions are actuarially determined annually and stated as a percentage of covered compensation. The
City's actuarially determined matching contribution for the year ended September 30, 2013 was 9.65% and
9.57% of covered compensation for tier 1 and tier 2 employees, respectively.

39



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

C. Trend information

Annual Percentage Net Pension
Fiscal Year Pension of APC (Asset)

Ended Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation
1999 730,197$     100.0% 0$                
2000 827,411      100.0% 0
2001 858,468      290.2% (2,000,000)
2002 881,673      116.7% (2,150,178)
2003 812,825      102.8% (2,172,874)
2004 972,887      102.4% (2,195,810)
2005 1,156,963   100.0% (2,196,231)
2006 1,210,300   678.4% (9,196,651)
2007 1,221,176   108.0% (9,294,170)
2008 911,587      142.5% (9,681,799)
2009 1,023,066   108.9% (9,784,928)
2010 830,796      131.9% (10,043,061)
2011 1,000,454   126.7% (10,310,876)
2012 814,709      127.3% (10,495,319)

D. Funding progress

Actuarial
Accrued Ratio of

Actuarial Actuarial Liability Unfunded UAAL to
Valuation Value of (AAL) AAL Funded Covered Covered

Date Assets -Entry age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
 September 30 (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) (b-a)/c)

1996 11,432,073$ 15,123,539$ 3,691,466$  75.6% 7,197,023$   51.3%
1997 14,482,615   18,815,172 4,332,557   77.0% 7,745,713    55.9%
1998 16,250,881   20,474,800 4,223,919   79.4% 7,901,352    53.5%
1999 18,366,682   21,750,075 3,383,393   84.4% 7,965,312    42.5%
2000 20,708,080   25,584,241 4,876,161   80.9% 8,980,574    54.3%
2001 24,842,909   29,636,890 4,793,981   83.8% 9,282,996    51.6%
2002 26,589,001   33,716,032 7,127,031   78.9% 9,935,345    71.7%
2003 28,153,151   36,592,800 8,439,649   76.9% 9,994,458    84.4%
2004 29,873,086   37,849,401 7,976,315   78.9% 10,343,086 77.1%
2005 31,850,510   43,304,015 11,453,505 73.6% 11,079,436 103.4%
2006 40,804,372   47,811,288 7,006,916   85.3% 11,575,036 60.5%
2007 43,522,954   50,487,356 6,964,402   86.2% 12,117,551 57.5%
2008 44,857,398   53,591,533 8,734,135   83.7% 12,527,394 69.7%
2009 44,476,775   57,488,111 13,011,336 77.4% 12,980,770 100.2%
2010 43,435,390   60,671,273 17,235,883 71.6% 12,830,545 134.3%
2011 42,195,893   63,185,649 20,989,756 66.8% 13,597,833 154.4%
2012 40,549,213   61,022,021 20,472,808 66.5% 12,832,269 159.5%

The net pension (asset) above is the result of the City's contributions above the actuarilly determined annual
required contributions as more fully described in Note 6.B. above.

Following is the trend information from the most recent actuarial valuation dated September 30, 2012:

Following is the schedule of funding progress obtained from most recent actuarial valuation prepared as of
September 30, 2012:

40



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

E. Additional information

September 30, 2012
Actuarial cost method Entry age
Amortization method Level percent open
Remaining amortization period 30 years
Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed market
Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return 8.00%
Projected salary increases 3.75 - 7.25%
Includes inflation at 3.00%
Cost-of-living adjustments None
Number of active members 216              
Number of retired members and beneficiaries 93                
Annual retirement allowances 3,438,573$   

7. Post-employment benefits

Effective October 1, 2006, the City of Mountain Brook implemented Government Accounting Standards Board
Statement Number 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post employment Benefits Other than
Pensions (GASB 45). This amount was applied toward the Net OPEB Benefit Obligation as shown in the following
table.  

Annual Required Contribution. The City of Mountain Brook’s Annual Required Contribution (ARC) is an amount
actuarially determined in accordance with GASB 45. The ARC is the sum of the Normal Cost plus the contribution
to amortize the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL). A level dollar, open amortization period of 30 years
(the maximum amortization period allowed by GASB 43/45) has been used for the post-employment benefits. The
actuarially computed ARC is as follows:

Following is additional information obtained from the most recent actuarial valuation:

Valuation date

Plan Description. The City of Mountain Brook’s medical benefits are provided to employees upon actual
retirement through participation in the Local Government Health Insurance Plan (LGHIP) administered by the State
Employees' Insurance Board (SEIB). 

The employer pays a portion of the medical coverage for the retirees and dependents for a maximum of thirteen
years after retirement or, if earlier, until the attainment of Medicare eligibility. Eligibility for post-retirement coverage
is as follows: completion of 30 years of service at any age. Periodically, eligibility is extended to employees at 20
years of service and any age or at age 60 and completion of 10 years of service. Complete plan provisions are
contained in the official plan documents.

Contribution Rates. Employees do not contribute to their post employment benefits costs until they become
retirees and begin receiving those benefits. The plan provisions and contribution rates are contained in the official
plan documents.

Fund Policy. Until 2006, the City of Mountain Brook recognized the cost of providing post-employment medical
benefits (the City of Mountain Brook’s portion of the retiree medical benefit premiums) as an expense when the
benefit premiums were due and thus financed the cost of the post-employment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis.
In 2013 and 2012, the City of Mountain Brook’s portion of health care funding cost for retired employees totaled
$350,923 and $354,828, respectively.

41



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2013 2012
Normal Cost 106,399$      99,532$       
30-year UAL amortization amount 144,468        175,452        

Annual required contribution (ARC) 250,867$      274,984$      

2013 2012
Beginning Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) (1,035,347)$  (667,403)$    

Annual required contribution 250,867       274,984       
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) (41,414)        (26,696)        
ARC Adjustment 59,874          38,596          
OPEB Cost 269,327       286,884       
Contribution (320,000)      (300,000)      
Current year retiree premium (350,923)       (354,828)       
Change in Net OPEB Obligation (401,596)       (367,944)       

Ending Net OPEB Obligation (Asset) (1,436,943)$  (1,035,347)$  

Percentage
Post Fiscal Year Annual of Annual Net OPEB

Employment Ended OPEB Cost Obligation
Benefit September 30 Cost Contributed  (Asset)

Medical/Dental 2013 269,327$      249.11% (1,436,943)$  
Medical/Dental 2012 286,884        228.26% (1,035,347)    
Medical/Dental 2011 262,390        214.95% (667,403)       
Medical/Dental 2010 287,773        182.03% (365,777)       
Medical/Dental 2009 241,244        117.00% (129,706)       

Funded Status and Funding Progress. In the fiscal year ending September 30, 2013 and 2012, the City of
Mountain Brook contributed $320,000 and $300,000, respectively, to its post-employment benefits plan over and
above the retiree premium costs. The plan with accrued interest and unrealized gains/losses, thus had assets of
$1,260,448 and $925,335 as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Based on the October 1, 2012
actuarial valuation, the most recent valuation, the Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) at the end of the year
September 30, 2013 was $3,560,421 which is defined as that portion, as determined by a particular actuarial cost
method (the City of Mountain Brook uses the Projected Unit Credit Cost Method), of the actuarial present value of
post employment plan benefits and expenses which is not provided by normal cost.

Net Post-employment Benefit Obligation (Asset). The table below shows the City of Mountain Brook’s Net
Other Post-employment Benefit (OPEB) Obligation for fiscal years ending September 30:

The following table shows the City of Mountain Brook’s annual post employment benefits (PEB) cost, percentage of
the cost contributed, and the net unfunded post employment benefits (PEB) liability for last five years:

42



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2013 2012
Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) 3,560,421$   3,155,271$   
Actuarial Value of Plan Assets 1,260,448     925,335        

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) 2,299,973$   2,636,156$   

Funded Ratio (Actuarial Value of Assets/AAL) 35.40% 29.33%

Covered Payroll (active plan members) 13,750,308$ 12,995,796$ 

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 16.73% 17.16%

Investment Return Assumption (Discount Rate). GASB Statement 45 states that the investment return
assumption should be the estimated long-term investment yield on the investments that are expected to be used to
finance the payment of benefits. Since the ARC is currently being funded and invested with relatively conservative
investments, we have performed this valuation using a 4% annual investment return assumption.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts
and assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. The actuarial valuation for post employment
benefits includes estimates and assumptions regarding (1) turnover rate; (2) retirement rate; (3) health care cost
trend rate; (4) mortality rate; (5) discount rate (investment return assumption); and (6) the period to which the costs
apply (past, current, or future years of service by employees). Actuarially determined amounts are subject to
continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the
future.

Post-employment Benefit Plan Eligibility Requirements. It has been assumed that entitlement to benefits will
commence three years after the earliest eligibility for retirement. Because of the variations in eligibility described
under "Plan Description" above, eligibility for retirement has been assumed to be the earlier of: (1), attainment of
age 60 with at least fifteen (15) years of service, and (2), completion of thirty (30) years of service at any age.
Entitlement to benefits ceases upon the earlier of thirteen years after retirement and the date the retiree becomes
eligible for Medicare benefits (whether by age or disability). Medical benefits are provided to employees upon
actual retirement.

Actuarial Value of Plan Assets. Because of the nature of the investments in the trust, we have used actual
market value as the actuarial value of assets. It is anticipated that in future valuations, should more volatile
investments be used, a smoothed market value consistent with Actuarial Standards Board Actuarial Standards of
Practice Number 6 (ASOP 6), as provided in paragraph number 125 of GASB Statement 45 would be used.

Turnover Rate. An age-related turnover scale based on actual experience has been used. The rates, when
applied to the active employee census, produce a composite average annual turnover of approximately 10%.

The actuarial calculations are based on the types of benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan (the
plan as understood by the City of Mountain Brook and its employee plan members) at the time of the valuation and
on the pattern of sharing costs between the City of Mountain Brook and its plan members to that point. The
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or
contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the City of Mountain Brook and plan
members in the future. Consistent with the long-term perspective of actuarial calculations, the actuarial methods
and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial liabilities and
the actuarial value of assets.

Actuarial Cost Method. The ARC is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Cost Method. The employer
portion of the cost for retiree medical care in each future year is determined by projecting the current cost levels
using the healthcare cost trend rate and discounting this projected amount to the valuation date using the other
described pertinent actuarial assumptions, including the investment return assumption (discount rate), mortality and 
turnover.

43



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2011 2012 2013
OPEB Costs 262,390$      286,884$      269,327$      

Contributions 200,000        300,000        320,000        
Retiree premium 364,016      354,828       350,923       

Total contribution and premium 564,016      654,828       670,923       

Change in net OPEB obligation (301,626)$    (367,944)$     (401,596)$    

Ratio of contributions to cost 76.22% 104.57% 118.81%

Ratio of contributions plus premium to cost 214.95% 228.26% 249.11%

8. Commitments and contingencies

2013 2012
Property tax commissions $     196,534 $     197,347 
Maintenance of maps and appraisals 206,473 219,780
Jefferson County Health Department 113,620 112,401
Birmingham-Jefferson County Transit Authority 75,012 76,732
Personnel Board of Jefferson County 171,855 190,534
Birmingham Regional Planning Commission 12,350 12,350

Health Care Cost Trend Rate. The expected rate of increase in medical cost is based on a graded schedule
beginning with 8% annually, down to an ultimate annual rate of 5.0% for ten years out and later.

Mortality Rate. The 1994 Group Annuity Reserving (94GAR) table, projected to 2002, based on a fixed blend of
50% of the unloaded male mortality rate and 50% of the unloaded female mortality rates, was used. This is a
published mortality table which was designed to be used in determining the value of accrued benefits in defined
benefit pension plans. Projected future mortality improvement has not been used since it is our opinion that this
table contains sufficiently conservative margin for the population involved in this valuation.  

Method of Determining Value of Benefits. The "value of benefits" has been assumed to be the portion of the
premium after retirement date expected to be paid by the employer for each retiree and has been used as the basis
for calculating the actuarial present value of OPEB benefits to be paid. We have used the "unblended" rates
provided as required by GASB 45 for valuation purposes.

Post-retirement Benefit Increases. The plan benefit provisions in effect for retirees as of the valuation date have
been used and it has been assumed for valuation purposes that there will not be any changes in the future.

Below is a summary of OPEB cost and contributions for the last three fiscal calendar years.

The City is charged by the Jefferson County Commission for shared services. The assessments for shared
services charged to the City during 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

Inflation Rate. Included in both the Investment Return Assumption and the Healthcare Cost Trend rates above is
an implicit inflation assumption of 2.50% annually.

Projected Salary Increases. This assumption is not applicable since neither the benefit structure nor the
valuation methodology involves salary.

44



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

In 2005, the City entered into a development agreement with a real estate developer constructing a mixed use
development in the City. The development agreement provides that the City will reimburse the developer for
certain costs incurred for the construction of public infrastructure including a roadway relocation and improvements,
construction of an acceleration lane, sidewalks, curbing, and drainage systems. The reimbursement is limited to
$4.9 million regardless of the actual costs incurred by the developer and payable solely from a portion (50%) of the
sales tax receipts realized by the City from the commercial development. Any portion of the $4.9 million
development agreement obligation not repaid after fifteen (15) years shall be cancelled.

The cumulative infrastructure costs incurred by the developer was $5,332,981 which has been capitalized. The
City's obligation under the terms of the development agreement was satisfied during the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2013 and totaled $1,017,710 as of September 30, 2012. Amounts reported as a current liability in
the Statement of Net Position as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 totaled $0 and $1,016,000, respectively. The
City paid $1,017,710 and $1,016,307 under the terms of the development agreement during the years ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The City has entered into another development agreement with a real estate developer constructing a small
shopping center whose principal tenant is a grocery store. Under the terms of the development agreement, the
City agreed to pay the developer the sum of $687,500 for the purpose of promoting economic development within
the City as provided by Amendment No. 772 adopted by the Alabama Legislature. In addition, the City agreed to
abate the City's portion of property taxes for a period of fifteen (15) years provided the annual retail sales equal or
exceed $5 million. The real estate tax abatement commitment ends in fiscal year 2021. The City's $687,500
development agreement commitment was paid from 50% of the sales tax generated by the stores in the
development. The City's development agreement obligation was satisfied during the fiscal year ended September
30, 2012 in the amount of $102,159.

With the exception of the Personnel Board and Planning Commission costs, the above expenses are deducted
from the ad valorem property taxes remitted by the Jefferson County Tax collector (Note 1.R.) to the City of
Mountain Brook. For financial reporting purposes, the City grosses-up the General Fund ad valorem tax revenues
and general government expenditures by these amounts.

The City has arranged for an independent contractor, Waste Management Company, Inc., to provide for the
collection and disposal of refuse and recyclable materials. The base rates for this service for the year ended
September 30, 2013, were $29.79 per month for single and multiple family residential units and $35.47 per month
for commercial units. The annual cost incurred under this agreement for the years ended September 30, 2013 and
2012, was approximately $2,723,000 and $2,683,400, respectively. Total garbage service fee revenues collected
by the City from its commercial customers during the years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 were $35,589
and $39,235, respectively.

During 1999, the City entered into an agreement whereby the City, along with the City of Homewood, and Jefferson
County (collectively referred to as "the Consortium") purchased approximately 16.6 acres of land and the buildings
thereon from the Jefferson County Board of Education at a total cost of $4,884,000. The City's share of the total
purchase price totaled approximately $1,050,000. In conjunction with the purchase, the consortium adopted
covenants that expire at the end of seventy-five (75) years restricting the use of the property for programs and
activities to benefit the community including, but not limited to: 1) public parks, playgrounds, or zoo; 2) schools,
daycare, churches, or philanthropic organizations; 3) government buildings, libraries, community centers,
museums, or art galleries; or 4) headquarters for scouting organizations or youth facilities.

In connection with the Consortium's purchase of the property and adoption of restrictive covenants, the City of
Birmingham (Birmingham) agreed to lease the adjoining zoo property to Birmingham Zoo, Inc. (BZI), a newly
formed non-profit private corporation, for a period twenty-five (25) years with two, twenty-five year renewal options.
In consideration of Birmingham's agreement to subsidize the operations of BZI and its commitment to leave the
zoo at its present location, the Consortium agreed to pay Birmingham annual installments of $300,000
commencing in fiscal year 1999 for a period of 9-1/2 years. The City fulfilled its financial commitment under the
purchase agreement in 2008. In 2010, the City entered into a service agreement with Birmingham Zoo, Inc. that
provides for annual consideration in the amount of $75,000 through June 2012. In Novemberber 2013, the service
agreement was extended under the same terms through June 2014.

45



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

2013 2012
Public buildings $                 0 $13,857,382 
Sidewalks     2,414,681     2,004,944 
Drainage projects           21,802           21,802 
Park improvements         289,078           92,593 

     Total $  2,725,561 $15,976,721 

Project Description

Contract 
Commitment 

and 
Anticipated 
Overruns

Expended in 
Fiscal 2013 (1)

Federal 
Awards 

Reported in 
2013

Estimated 
Cost to 

Complete

Anticipated 
Completion 

Date
Mountain Brook Village Walkway System, January 

Phase 6 - CMAQ-9802(921)  $  2,689,868  $     605,288  $     478,588  $     456,000 2014
Safe Routes to Schools, Mountain Brook

Elementary and Crestline Elementary Schools -
SRTS-SR09 (903) and (904)          838,987            34,404            12,422          805,000 May 2014

Mountain Brook Village Walkway System,
Phase 9 along Brookwood Road,
Crosshill Road, and Oakdale Drive
CMAQ-PE12(  ) - Design only(2)          196,849              5,945              4,756          191,000 

reimbursement.
(2)  Project has been approved by ALDOT but not under [construction] contract as of September 30, 2013.  

Construction is estimated to be $1.6 million pending approval to proceed by the City Council.

9. Constitutional debt limit

2013 2012
Assessed value of taxable real and personal property
     as provided by the Jefferson County Tax Assessor $533,517,820 $523,923,088

Constitutional debt limit, 20 percent of assessed value $106,703,564 $104,784,618
Outstanding long-term debt as of September 30     4,090,000     4,285,000 

Legal Debt Margin $102,613,564 $100,499,618

The costs incurred for the drainage and park improvement projects are for preliminary design and planning of the
projects.  Construction contracts are expected to be executed in 2014 once the projects are defined.

(1)  The amounts expended in fiscal 2013 include projected-related expenditures not eligible for federal

Construction in progress (Note 4) at September 30 includes the following projects:

The public buildings included the razing and reconstruction of a new municipal complex. The municipal complex
was completed in April 2013 at a total cost of $23.5 million.

The City has executed various contracts with the Alabama Department of Transportation (ALDOT) and engineering
firms with respect to the Village Walkway System and Safe Routes to Schools sidewalk construction projects. The
projects are being administered by ALDOT and federal awards have been granted ranging from 80% to 100% of
construction costs.  Following is a summary of the contracts underway as of September 30, 2013:

Section 225, as amended, of the Constitution of the State of Alabama limits for municipalities with populations of
6,000 or more to 20 percent of the assessed value of taxable property. Excluded from this limitation are bonds
issued for the construction of schools, waterworks, sewers, and assessed improvements. Following are the
constitution debt limit and legal debt margin:

February 
2014

46



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Financial Statements

10. Litigation
Several claims, suits, and complaints, common to municipalities, have been filed or are pending against the City.
In the opinion of management and the City's attorney, all such matters are without merit or involve such amounts as 
would not have a material adverse effect on the City's financial statements.

47



DRAFT

This page is blank intentionally.



DRAFT

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



DRAFT

Original Final
Budget Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:     
Taxes 26,621,313$  26,621,313$  27,187,309$  565,996$       
Licenses and permits 3,728,500      3,845,809 4,296,693 450,884         
Intergovernmental 89,707           89,707 84,547 (5,160)           
Charges for services 657,921         743,241 728,997 (14,244)         
Fines and forfeitures 498,940         498,940 559,465 60,525           
Grants 12,062           12,062 15,755 3,693             
Other operating revenues 419,437         419,437       577,654         158,217         

Total  revenues 32,027,880    32,230,509    33,450,420    1,219,911      

Expenditures:     
 Current (operating):

General government 5,251,220      5,251,220      5,067,000 184,220         
Public safety 13,147,833    13,147,833    12,884,029 263,804         
Street and sanitation 6,319,859      6,319,859      6,109,529 210,330         
Recreational 1,186,884      1,186,884      1,112,903 73,981           
Library 2,729,573      2,746,882      2,677,231      69,651           

Total expenditures 28,635,369    28,652,678    27,850,692    801,986         

Excess of revenues over expenditures 3,392,511      3,577,831      5,599,728      2,021,897      

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 40,315           0                    0                    0                    
Operating transfers (out) (3,075,184)    (3,034,869)    (4,624,661)    (1,589,792)    
Operating transfers in - component unit 43,000           43,000           20,885           (22,115)         
Donations 109,570         24,250           87,305           63,055           

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,882,299)    (2,967,619)    (4,516,471)    (1,548,852)    

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 510,212         610,212         1,083,257      473,045         

Fund balances, beginning of year 10,978,012    10,978,012    10,978,012    0                    

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 11,488,224$  11,588,224$  12,061,269$  473,045$       

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended September 30, 2013

50



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

A. Budgets and budgetary accounting

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6. At the end of the year, unencumbered appropriations automatically lapse.

Budget information presented in the financial statements is based on the budget as adopted by 
the City Council on September 24, 2012 (Resolution No. 2012-152) and subsequently revised on 
May 28, 2013 (Ordinance No. 1890).

The City has adopted and adheres to the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data 
reflected in the financial statements:

The City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed budget for the fiscal year 
commencing October 1.  The budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of 
financing those expenditures.

A public hearing is conducted to obtain taxpayers' comments.

The budget is legally enacted through the passage of a resolution.

The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within departments within any 
fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund or transfer of funds 
between departments must be approved by the City Council.

Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year for 
the General, Special Revenue, and Capital Projects Funds.

51



DRAFT

This page is blank intentionally.



DRAFT

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Balance Sheet
Other Governmental Funds

September 30, 2013

Seven Four Five Two
Cent Cent Cent Cent

ASSETS
Cash and temporary

investments 577,517$         199,039$         142,919$         26,919$           
Receivables 18,463             10,704            5,275              0                      

TOTAL ASSETS 595,980$          209,743$         148,194$         26,919$           

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 0$                    0$                    0$                     0$                    

Total liabilities 0                      0                     0                      0                      

FUND EQUITY
Fund balance 595,980            209,743          148,194          26,919             

Total fund equity 595,980            209,743          148,194          26,919             

TOTAL LIABILITIES   
  AND FUND EQUITY 595,980$          209,743$         148,194$         26,919$           

State Shared Gasoline Tax Funds

54



DRAFT

Emergency Debt
Communication Corrections Service

District Fund Fund Totals

458,352$          5,238$              3,375,296$      4,785,280$      
11,928              0                       0                      46,370            

470,280$          5,238$              3,375,296$      4,831,650$      

7,900$              5,238$              0$                    13,138$           

7,900                5,238                0                      13,138            

462,380            0                       3,375,296        4,818,512       

462,380            0                       3,375,296        4,818,512       

470,280$          5,238$              3,375,296$      4,831,650$      



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ Other Governmental Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2013

State Shared Gasoline Tax Funds

Seven Four Five Two
Cent Cent Cent Cent

Revenues:
Taxes 190,258$       119,502$       58,212$         4,562$            
Charges for services 0 0 0 0 
Fines and forfeitures 0 0 0 0 
Other operating revenues:

Investment earnings 462,556          1,443              571                 87                   

Total  revenues 652,814          120,945          58,783            4,649              

Expenditures:    
General government 0 0 0 0 
Public safety 0 0 0 0 
Street and sanitation 380,206 300,204 55,968 204 
Recreational 0 0 0 0 
Debt service:

Principal 0 0 0 0 
Interest 0                   0                   0                    0                    

Total expenditures 380,206          300,204          55,968            204                 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 272,608          (179,259)         2,815              4,445              

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 100,000          0                     0                     0                     

Total other financing
sources (uses) 100,000        0                   0                    0                    

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
and other financing sources
over expenditures and other
financing uses 372,608          (179,259)         2,815              4,445              

Fund balances,
beginning of year 223,372          389,002          145,379          22,474            

FUND BALANCES,
    END OF YEAR 595,980$        209,743$        148,194$        26,919$          

55



DRAFT

Emergency Debt
Communication Corrections Service Totals

District Fund Fund Fund

0$                   0$                   0$                  372,534$       
313,297 0 0 313,297 

2,359 175,426 0 177,785 

1,665              0                     24,406            490,728          

317,321          175,426          24,406            1,354,344       

0 215,108 788 215,896 
362,542 92,715 0 455,257 

0 0 0 736,582 
0 0 0 0 

0 0 195,000 195,000 
0                     0                     163,141         163,141        

362,542          307,823          358,929          1,765,876       

(45,221)           (132,397)         (334,523)         (411,532)         

0                     132,397          658,141          890,538          

0                     132,397         658,141         890,538        

(45,221)           0                     323,618 479,006          

507,601          0                     3,051,678       4,339,506       

462,380$        0$                   3,375,296$     4,818,512$     



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds
September 30, 2013

City Village Village
Capital Improvement Trail System
Projects Projects Projects Totals

ASSETS
Cash and temporary

investments 7,020,152$   3,289,519$   564,747$      10,874,418$  
Receivables 32,074         0                  304,134       336,208         

TOTAL ASSETS 7,052,226$   3,289,519$   868,881$      11,210,626$  

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 299,390$      13,515$        390,801$      703,706$       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 299,390       13,515         390,801       703,706         

FUND BALANCE
Fund balance 6,752,836    3,276,004    478,080       10,506,920    

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 6,752,836    3,276,004    478,080       10,506,920    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
      FUND BALANCE 7,052,226$   3,289,519$   868,881$      11,210,626$  

56



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds

Year Ended September 30, 2013

City Village Village
Capital Improvement Trail System
Projects Projects Projects Totals

Revenues:  
Grants 3,123$            0$                   495,766$        498,889$         
Other operating revenues:

Investment earnings 101,510          16,281           2,481             120,272           
Miscellaneous 130,789           0                      0                      130,789           

Total  revenues 235,422           16,281             498,247           749,950           

Expenditures:  
General government 9,919,627 0 0 9,919,627 
Public safety 1,383,880 0 0 1,383,880 
Street and sanitation 470,106 109,283 789,480 1,368,869 
Recreational 30,648 28,459 0 59,107 
Library 13,715             0                      0                      13,715             

Total expenditures 11,817,976      137,742           789,480           12,745,198      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (11,582,554)     (121,461)          (291,233)          (11,995,248)     

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 5,734,923       (1,642,659)     0                     4,092,264        
Operating transfers (out) 0                     (358,141)        0                     (358,141)          
Donations 275,000           1,500               0                      276,500           

Total other financing
sources (uses) 6,009,923        (1,999,300)       0                      4,010,623        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
and other financing sources
over expenditures and other
financing uses (5,572,631)      (2,120,761)     (291,233)        (7,984,625)       

Fund balances,
beginning of year 12,325,467      5,396,765        769,313           18,491,545      

FUND BALANCES,
END OF YEAR 6,752,836$      3,276,004$      478,080$         10,506,920$    

57



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Schedule of General Fund Revenues by Source
For the Years Ended September 30, 2004 through 2013

2004 2005 2006 2007
Taxes

Real property 10,244,362$ 11,094,902$ 11,976,292$ 13,181,868$  
Sales and use 6,086,944 6,534,289 7,033,452 7,829,375 
Occupational 929,454 939,127 248,283 1,475 
Utility 953,228 992,143 1,088,234 1,266,253 
Personal property 

(automobiles) 1,076,449 1,108,807 1,131,386 1,139,952 
Road and bridge 425,985 460,216 497,326 543,682 
Other 1,072,439    1,053,130    1,316,806    1,275,315      

Total taxes 20,788,861  22,182,614  23,291,779  25,237,920    

Licenses and permits
Business 1,647,641 1,756,226 1,729,727 1,872,058 
Construction permits 667,971 519,277 893,161 851,266 
Cable TV franchise fees 245,986 257,695 282,379 300,204 
Waterworks Board 115,220 123,202 137,964 161,961 
Other 55,717         55,535         60,966         60,985          

Total licenses and permits 2,732,535    2,711,935    3,104,197    3,246,474      

Intergovernmental 40,430 41,736 50,517 40,544 

Charges for services
Garbage fees 1,526,500 1,573,788 1,604,281 462,747 
Other 481,656       486,567       486,385       517,251        

Total charges for services 2,008,156    2,060,355    2,090,666    979,998        

Fines and forfeitures - court 496,457 587,397 623,579 597,961 

Grants 172,338 1,907,290 73,278 51,434 

Other operating revenue
Investment earnings 126,245 141,783 235,866 653,609 
Other 241,746       247,971       325,757       161,303        

Total other operating
revenue 367,991       389,754       561,623       814,912        

TOTAL REVENUES 26,606,768$ 29,881,081$ 29,795,639$ 30,969,243$  

58



DRAFT

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

13,919,181$  14,592,638$  14,322,580$  13,890,843$ 13,873,635$ 13,512,485$  
8,412,007 7,666,594 7,854,903 8,476,522 9,112,494 9,578,337      

0 0 0 0 0 0                   
1,336,420 1,413,759 1,450,440 1,460,206 1,365,487 1,284,421      

1,130,239 1,022,666 1,047,869 1,079,079 1,152,424 1,208,485      
572,272 596,000 590,899 572,584 575,000 565,066         
985,588         1,075,676      1,016,068      903,688       1,030,680    1,038,515      

26,355,707    26,367,333    26,282,759    26,382,922  27,109,720  27,187,309    

1,994,039 1,998,980 2,130,822 2,165,612 2,223,912 2,492,623      
1,036,354 634,059 624,309 753,444 800,820 1,100,204      

323,082 328,641 347,757 352,964 391,701 424,912         
167,341 157,794 159,242 207,939 216,090 216,839         
63,382           57,966           64,720          60,310         61,928         62,115           

3,584,198      3,177,440      3,326,850      3,540,269    3,694,451    4,296,693      

149,710 84,723 82,826 84,874 85,613 84,547           

71,252 39,094 34,062 32,436 39,235 35,589           
498,576         486,785         591,636        619,716       714,561       693,408         
569,828         525,879         625,698        652,152       753,796       728,997         

470,020 443,400 514,542 529,522 446,682 559,465         

37,355 50,799 19,708 282,423 12,062 15,755           

428,304 271,788 207,214 131,706 199,151 138,162         
230,717         371,526         254,173        300,657       278,880       439,492         

659,021         643,314         461,387        432,363       478,031       577,654         

31,825,839$  31,292,888$  31,313,770$  31,904,525$ 32,580,355$ 33,450,420$  



DRAFT

This page is blank intentionally.



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ General Fund
September 30

2013 2012
ASSETS   

Cash and temporary investments 12,471,922$    11,406,361$    
Cash and temporary investments - restricted 211,803           179,551           
Receivables 1,841,394        1,844,064        
Due from related organizations 84,547             85,613             
Inventory and prepaid expenses 144,431           119,313           

TOTAL ASSETS 14,754,097$    13,634,902$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 923,065$         861,707$         
Accrued salaries and wages 712,405           635,899           
Due to related organizations 58,967             54,710             
Other liabilities 998,391           1,104,574        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,692,828        2,656,890        

Pension obligation (see Note 6)

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable 144,431           119,313           
Restricted 0                      0                      
Committed 53,934             53,696             
Assigned 2,409,112        2,275,673        
Unassigned 9,453,792        8,529,330        

FUND BALANCES 12,061,269      10,978,012      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 14,754,097$    13,634,902$    

59



DRAFT

2013 2012
Revenues:   

Taxes 27,187,309$      27,109,720$      
Licenses and permits 4,296,693          3,694,451 
Intergovernmental 84,547               85,613 
Charges for services 728,997             753,796 
Fines and forfeitures 559,465             446,682 
Grants 15,755               12,062               
Other operating revenues 577,654             478,031             

Total  revenues 33,450,420        32,580,355        

Expenditures:   
 Current (operating):

General government 5,067,000          5,305,752          
Public safety 12,884,029        12,271,377        
Street and sanitation 6,109,529          5,996,599          
Recreational 1,112,903          1,173,043          
Library 2,677,231          2,617,671          

Total expenditures 27,850,692        27,364,442        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 5,599,728          5,215,913          

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 0                        0                        
Operating transfers (out) (4,624,661)         (4,337,088)         
Operating transfers in - component unit 20,885               53,817 
Donations 87,305               72,261               

Total other financing sources (uses) (4,516,471)         (4,211,010)         

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses 1,083,257          1,004,903          

Fund balances, beginning of year 10,978,012        9,973,109          

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 12,061,269$      10,978,012$      

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances ─ General Fund
Years Ended September 30

60



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Capital Projects Funds
September 30

2013 2012
ASSETS   

Cash and temporary investments 10,874,418$    19,389,427$    
Receivables 336,208           121,707           

TOTAL ASSETS 11,210,626$    19,511,134$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 703,706$         1,019,589$      

TOTAL LIABILITIES 703,706           1,019,589        

Pension obligation (see Note 6)

FUND BALANCES
Committed 10,506,920      18,491,545      

FUND BALANCES 10,506,920      18,491,545      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 11,210,626$    19,511,134$    

61



DRAFT

2013 2012
Revenues:   

Grants 498,889$           1,021,656$        
Other operating revenues 251,061             472,834             

Total  revenues 749,950             1,494,490          

Expenditures:   
 Current (operating):

General government 9,919,627          7,414,753          
Public safety 1,383,880          747,469             
Street and sanitation 1,368,869          1,872,401          
Recreational 59,107               146,343             
Library 13,715               43,833               

Total expenditures 12,745,198        10,224,799        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (11,995,248)       (8,730,309)         

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in 4,092,264          3,862,723          
Operating transfers (out) (358,141)            (360,600)            
Operating transfers in - component unit 0                        0                        
Donations 276,500             0                        

Total other financing sources (uses) 4,010,623          3,502,123          

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses (7,984,625)         (5,228,186)         

Fund balances, beginning of year 18,491,545        23,719,731        

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 10,506,920$      18,491,545$      

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and

Changes in Fund Balances ─ Capital Projects Funds
Years Ended September 30

62



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Debt Service Fund
September 30

2013 2012
ASSETS   

Cash and temporary investments 3,375,296$      3,051,678$      

TOTAL ASSETS 3,375,296$      3,051,678$      

LIABILITIES 0$                    0$                    

FUND BALANCES
Assigned 3,375,296      3,051,678        

FUND BALANCES 3,375,296        3,051,678        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 3,375,296$      3,051,678$      

63



DRAFT

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama

Comparative Balance Sheet ─ Debt Service Fund
September 30

2013 2012
ASSETS   

Cash and temporary investments 3,375,296$      3,051,678$      

TOTAL ASSETS 3,375,296$      3,051,678$      

LIABILITIES 0$                    0$                    

FUND BALANCES
Assigned 3,375,296      3,051,678        

FUND BALANCES 3,375,296        3,051,678        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 3,375,296$      3,051,678$      

64



Minute Book 86 

MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 
PRE-MEETING DISCUSSION 

JANUARY 27,2014 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the Pre-council 
Room (A106) of City Hall at 6: 15 p.m. on Monday, the 27th day of January, 20 14. The Council President 
called the meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
Amy G. Carter, Council President Pro Tempore 
Jack D. Carl 
William S. Pritchard I11 
Jesse S. Vogtle, Jr. 
Lawrence T. Oden, Mayor 

Also present were City Attorney Whit Colvin, City Manager Sam Gaston, and City Clerk Steven 
Boone. 

1. AGENDA 

1. Street paving list for 2014 - Ronnie Vaughn (Appendix 1). The members of the City Council 
expressed their general agreement with the Public Works Superintendent's proposed street paving list. 

2. Magic City Mural Collective requests to paint mural on Highway 280 - Creighton Tynes (Appendix 
2). The members of the City Council expressed their consent to the concept of a proposed mural. The 
artists agreed to put together some ideas as to the mural to be painted, develop pricing, and determine 
whether any outside finds may be available to possibly partially fund the cost. The artists will return 
to the City Council once such information is available. 

3. Phase 9 sidewalk project update -Jim Meads of Sain Associates (Appendix 3). The members of the 
City Council expressed their desire to move forward with the project. Sain Associates was asked to 
modify the sidewalk route and incorporate other comments offered by the affected residents during the 
recent public meeting. If any portion of the sidewalks are to be moved to the other side of a street, the 
City will notify such affected residents by mail prior to approving such changes. 

4. Additional fountain work and annual maintenance contract - Steven Boone. (Motions 2014-009 and 
010 were added to the formal agenda. The members of the City Council stated that they did not wish 
to proceed with the proposal to relocate the vent stacks due to cost considerations.) 

5. MAX service costs for FY-2013 and FY-2014 - Sam Gaston (Appendix 4). The members of the City 
Council expressed their displeasure with not being afforded the opportunity to consider the rate 
increase during their 20 14 budget deliberations. The 20 15 route plan and costs will be reviewed in 
advance. 

Upon conclusion of the City Council's review of the other formal [7 p.m.] agenda issues, Council 
President Smith adjourned the meeting. 

Steven Boone, City Clerk 

January 27,2014 



~ i h u t e  Book 86 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

JANUARY 27,2014 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the City Hall 
Council Chamber (Room A108) at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, the 27th day of January, 2014. The Council 
President called the meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
Amy G. Carter, Council President Pro Tempore 
Jack D. Carl 
William S. Pritchard I11 
Jesse S. Vogtle, Jr. 
Lawrence T. Oden, Mayor 

Also present were City Attorney Whit Colvin, City Manager Sam Gaston, and City Clerk Steven 
Boone. 

The City Council President stated that a quorum was present and that the meeting was open for the 
transaction of business. 

1. CONSENT AGENDA 

Council President Smith announced that the following matters will be considered at one time on the 
consent agenda provided no one in attendance objects: 

Approval of the minutes of the January 13,2014 meeting of the City Council. 

2014-007 Authorize the execution of a Preferred Pay Plan Agreement Exhibit 1, 
Addendum between the City and Municipal Workers' Appendix 1 
Compensation Fund, Inc. (MWCF) with respect to the City's 
self-insured workers' compensation program administration. 

2014-008 Award the bid for the purchase of a rifle sighting system for the Exhibit 2, 
police department. Appendix 2 

2014-009 Authorizelratify the purchase and installation ($3,875) of the Appendix 3 
Motion bronze "IF" poem plaque on the City Hall fountain wall 

pursuant to the commitment made by the City to the fountain 
donor. 

2014-010 Authorize the City Manager to engage Brown Mechanical Appendix 4 
Motion Contractors, Inc. to perform routine chemical testing and 

fountain maintenance. 

Thereupon, the foregoing minutes, resolutions and motions were introduced by Council President 
Smith and their immediate adoption was moved by Council member Pritchard. The minutes, resolutions, and 
motions were then considered by the City Council. Council member Vogtle seconded the motion to adopt the 
foregoing minutes, resolutions, and motions. Then, upon the question being put and the roll called, the vote 
was recorded as follows: 

Ayes: Virginia Smith, Council President 
Amy G. Carter, Council President Pro Tempore 
Jack D. Carl 
William S. Pritchard I11 
Jesse S. Vogtle, Jr. 

January 27,2014 



50 Minute Book 85 

Nays: None 

Council President Smith thereupon declared that said minutes, resolutions (nos. 2014-007 through 
008) and motions (nos. 20 14-009 through 0 10) are adopted by a vote of 5 -4 .  

2. ANNOUNCEMENT REGARDING THE NEXT REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL 

Council President Smith announced that the next meeting of the Mountain Brook City Council will be 
held on Monday, February 10,2014 at 7 p.m. in the Council Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, 
Mountain Brook, AL 35213. Please visit the City's web site (www.mtnbrook.org) for more information. 

3. EXECUTIVE SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was moved by Council member 
Pritchard that the City Council convene in executive session to discuss a matter involving pending real estate 
negotiation. The motion was seconded by Council President Smith. The City Attorney certified that the 
subject of said executive session was allowed pursuant to the Open Meetings Act. Then, upon the question 
being put and the roll called, the vote was recorded as follows: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
Amy Carter, Council President Pro Tempore 
Jack D. Carl 
William S. Pritchard I11 
Jesse S. Vogtle, Jr. 

Nays: None 

President Smith declared that the motion carried by a vote of 5 - 0  and then asked that the members of 
the audience be excused. President Smith also announced that the City Council will adjourn upon conclusion 
of the executive session. 

Steven Boone, City Clerk 

EXHIBIT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-007 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that City Council 
hereby authorizes the execution of the Preferred Pay Plan Agreement Addendum, in the form as attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, with respect to the City's workers' compensation stop loss policy renewal and claims 
administration services effect February 1,2014. 

APPENDIX 1 

EXHIBIT 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-008 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the bid for the 
purchase of a patrol rifle sighting system presented by Gulf States Distributors, Inc. of Montgomery, AL in the 
amount of $1 8,400 (for 40 rifle sights with the option to purchase up to 12 additional sights at the unit price of 
$460/sight) is hereby accepted. 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\Council\2014\20140127 Minutes.doc January 27,2014 



RESOLUTION NO. 2014-012 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook that, at the meeting of the 
City Council to be held on Monday, March 10,2014, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chamber of the Mountain 
Brook City Hall, the City Council will hold a public hearing regarding the adoption of an ordinance amending 
Section 129-43 1 of the City Code as it pertains to procedural noticing requirements for amendments. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook that the 
City Clerk be, and he hereby is, authorized and directed to cause to be published not fewer than twenty- 
two (22) days prior to March 10,2014, by posting in four (4) conspicuous places within the City of 
Mountain Brook, as follows: City Hall - 56 Church Street, Gilchrist Drug Company - 2805 Cahaba Road, 
The Invitation Place - 3 150 Overton Road and Overton Park - 3020 Overton Road notices of said public 
hearing in words and figures substantially as follows: 

"NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
PROPOSED ZONING CODE NOTICE 

Notice is hereby given that at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Mountain 
Brook to be held on Monday, March 10,2014, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chamber of the Mountain 
Brook City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213, the City Council will hold 
a public hearing regarding a proposal that the City Council adopt an ordinance in words and figures 
substantially as follows: 

'ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 129-431 OF THE CITY CODE 
MODIFYING NOTICING AND PUBLICATION PROVISIONS 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, 
that Section 129-43 1 of the City Code is hereby amended as follows: 

1. "Section 129--431. " Amendments in General. The number and boundaries of, and the 
regulations relating to, the districts established by this chapter may be amended, supplemented, 
or repealed by the city council, but no such amendment, supplement or repeal shall become 
effective unless it is first submitted to the planning commission for its recommendation. The 
planning commission shall hold a public hearing for the consideration of any such proposed 
amendment, supplement or repeal, after giving at least ten days' notice thereof, by posting notice 
of such hearing in four conspicuous places within the city, or by any other means permitted by 
applicable law, and shall, after the consideration of such amendment, supplement or repeal at the 
public hearing, forward its recommendation to the city council. The city council shall hold a 
public hearing for the consideration of such proposed amendment, supplement or repeal, & 

t 33 
C 'dLI . . 

after giving 
notice of such public hearing in accordance with applicable law. Written notice of public 
hearings held by the planning commission and by the city council shall be sent, by United States 
certified mail or registered mail, to all property owners, any portion of whose property. lies 
within 500 feet of any portion of the parcel included in a request for rezoning. For the purpose of 
such notice, the owner of a parcel shall be considered to be the person who is shown as the 
owner of such parcel according to the records of the tax assessor of Jefferson County, Alabama. 



If a public hearing is continued or postponed during the meeting of the planning commission or 
city council during which such hearing was held or was scheduled to have been held, no notice 
of such continued or postponed hearing need be given." 

2. Repealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Mountain Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby 
expressly repealed. 

3. Severabilitv. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional 
or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this 
ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

4. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 
publication as provided by law.' 

At the aforesaid time and place, all interested parties will be heard in relation to the changes 
proposed by said ordinance." 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Clerk be, and he hereby is, further authorized and 
directed to publish one insertion of the Notice herein above set out, which includes the proposed 
ordinance, one time, not less than twenty-two days prior to the public hearing provided for therein, in The 
Birmingham News, a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Mountain Brook, and one week after 
such first insertion to cause to be published again in said newspaper a synopsis of said proposed 
ordinance in lieu of a fill copy of the same, which synopsis shall refer to the date and name of the 
newspaper in which the proposed ordinance was published in full. 

ADOPTED: This 10th day of February, 2014. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 10th day of February, 2014. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook at 
its meeting held on February 10,2014, as same appears in the minutes or record of said meeting. 

I further certify that copies of the resolution above were posted on February, 2014 in four 
(4) conspicuous places within the City of Mountain Brook, as follows: 

City Hall, 56 Church Street Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2805 Cahaba Road 
The Invitation Place, 3 150 Overton Road Overton Park-3020 Overton Road 

City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NO. 2014-013 

WHEREAS, the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, has certain items of personal property which 
are no longer needed for public or municipal purposes; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1 1-43-56 of the Alabama Code of 1975 authorizes the municipal governing 
body to dispose of unneeded personal property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
as follows: It is hereby established and declared that the following property owned by the City of 
Mountain Brook, Alabama is not needed for public or municipal purposes and is hereby declared surplus 
property: 

Item Description Notes 

10 Shotguns (Remington 11-87) PC555058, PC554953, PC554993, 
PC554225, PC555037, PC554222, 
PC554974, PC555674, PC555137, and 
PC555097 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, 
that the City Manager is hereby authorized to issue a purchase order and to execute any other documents 
determined to be necessary with respect to the purchase of fifteen (1 5) Remington 870P MAXX shotguns 
for the police department and to trade the ten (10) Remington 1 1-87 shotguns for same. 

ADOPTED: This 10th day of February, 2014. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 10th day of February, 2014. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Mountain Brook at its meeting held on February 10,2014, as same appears in the minutes of record of 
said meeting. 

- - 

City Clerk 

Police Shotguns and Trade Authorization 



To: Lt. Jay Williams 
From: Sgt. M. Glass, Sgt. D. Evans 
Subject: Patrol Shotgun Purchase 
Datc: 12/28/2013 

After receiving three diffcrcnt quotes for the purchase of new patrol Remington 870P Maxx 
Shotguns, we recommend doing business with Craig's Firearms Supply Inc out of Knoxville, 
TN. Craig's Firearms Supply had both the best price per unit ($845.28) and best trade in value on 
our Rcmington 11-87's (($250.00 per shotgun). 





REMINGTON 1 1 -87 SERIAL NUMBERS 

REMMGTON 1 1-87 PC555058 

REMINGTON 1 1-87 PC554953 

REMlNGTON 1 1-87 PC554993 

REMINGTON 1 1-87 PC554225 

REMINGTON 1 1-87 PC555037 

REMINGTON 1 1-87 PC554222 

REMMGTON 11-87 PC554974 

REMINGTON 11-87 PC555674 

REMMGTON 1 1-87 PC555 137 

REMINGTON 11-87 PC555097 



RESOLUTION NO. 2014-014 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the bid 
for the purchase, installation, and clean-up of replacement suspended ceiling tiles for the library building 
presented by Adams, Gilmore & Lynch, Inc. (AGL) in the amount of $138,767.86 is hereby accepted. 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the City 
Manager of the City is hereby authorized and directed to issue a purchase order and to execute any other 
documents determined to be necessary with respect to said ceiling tile replacement project. 

ADOPTED: This 10th day of February, 2014. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 10th day of February, 20 14. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Mountain Brook at its meeting held on February 10,2014, as same appears in the minutes of record of 
said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Library Ceiling Tile Bid Award 



MEMO 

TO: Mountain Brook City Council 

FROM: Sue DeBrecht, Library Director > 
DATE: February 7,2014 

SUBJ: Ceiling Tile Replacement - Emmet 07Neal Library 

Ceiling Tiles 

Ceiling tiles are listed in the budget under the ERS, and are budgeted for $128,000. They are scheduled 
to be replaced every ten years. Several years ago they were cleaned, as to postpone replacement. The 
ceiling tiles are 13 years old and very dirty. I recommend that the bid be awarded to Adams, Gilmore and 
Lynch. AGL has met all the requirements as stated in the bid document. 

Budgeted $128,000 Bid $138,767.86 

This is $10,767.86 more than budgeted. 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 
STANDARD BID FORM 

January 24,2014 

MUNICIPAL.ITm ARE EXEMPT FROM STATE SALES TAX 

This bid must be notarized: 

Commission Expiration Date 

BIDDER 

~DDRHSS 3IIq B e ~ l b m - d  D r i ~  S~itk \N 
CITY %j>~i~hh&% STATE ZIP 3s~C13 
TELEPHONE Jb5. ' IbC(-~Lf55 PATE d-3.ICI 

Specifications 
2.1 

2.1 

2.1 

2.2 

2.2 

ROOM 
001.002,016,012,013, 

007,014,015 
112,113.114,115,vest,126, 

128,127,105,106 
218,219,217,216, 

212,210,204 
119,118, W, 132,131 

203,202,201,225,226,224 

Option No. 1 
Fee 

$ /q,q73. y3 
$ 

Io,L('/o. $8 

b,982-6.6 

3 4 , 0 6 5  -I( 

57,3.5~.79 
6 9 , ~ ~ .  00 

I 1,  000.06 
Option No. 1 Total 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 
7. 

$\38,7&7.8(,, 

Locations 
Emmet O'Neal Library - LOWER 
LEVEL 
Emmet O'Neal Library - MAIN 
LEVEL 
Emmet O'Neal Library - UPPER 
FLOOR 
Ernr.net O'Neal Library - MAIN 
LEVEL 
Emmet O'Neal Library - UPPER 
FLOOR 
ELECTRICIAN 
CLEANUP 



INVITATION TO BID FOR CEILING TILE REPLACEMENT 
EMMET O'NEAL LIBRARY 

50 OAK STREET 
MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 35213 

BID DOCUMENT COVER SHEET 
January 24,2014 

Advertised this date: Januarv 24.2014 Bids to be opened: F e b m  5.2014 2:OO PM 

Bid opening location: Mountain Brook City Hall 
56 Church Street, Room A108 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213 

Ladies and gentlemen: 

Sealed bids shall be received by the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, at City Hall until the above date and time, and 
then publicly opened and read as soon thereafter as practicable. Bids made out in pencil shall not be accepted and all 
bidders must use our bid form and show on the envelope the date of opening. Please mark clearly "SEALED 
BID-EhOAET OsNEAL LIBRARY CEILING TILE REPLACEMBNT". The City reserves the right to accept or reject 
any or all bids and waive informalities. 

To be considered by the City, a bid must comply with Alabama law, including, but not limited to, Ala. Code 541-16-50, 
et seq. (1975) (Appendix 1). Bidders will also be required to demonstrate compliance with the Alabama Immigration 
Act. 

AU bidders must use the bid form provided by the City for the service. This Bid Cover Sheet should be completed and 
submitted with the bid. Bids completed in pencil will not be accepted. Bids shall be clearly marked "SEALED BID" 
and indicate on the outside of the envelope the project ("CEILING TILE REPLACEMENT's) for which the bid is 
submitted and the date of bid opening. 

The City reserves the right to require a bid bond, in which case specific information shall be provided with the q u e s t  
for bids. The City reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids and to waive formalities. - 

~dn&~ak;n, Purchasing Agent 

Appendix 1 -Code of Alabama 641-16-50, et seq. (1975) (competitive bid law) 
Appendix 2 - Floor plan and floor surface legend 
Appendix 3 - Manufacturer specifications 

SPECIFICATIONS (ATTACHED) ARE FOR REPLACEMENT OF CEILING TILES FOR EMMET O'NEAL 
LIBRARY LOCATED AT 50 OAK STREET. THIS INCLUDES AU AREAS OF THE LIBRARY EXCLUDYNG 
THE COMMUNlTY MEFIWG ROOM. 



INSURER D : 

INSURER E : 

INSURER P : 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER: 

2014EPPW309 

e ADAMS-8 OP ID: EC 

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATe (YIYIDDIWW) 

u 02103/U)14 - 
THlS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THlS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 
BELOW. THlS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER 
IMPORTANf: I f  the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(les) must be e n d h d .  If SUBROGATION IS WANED, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the pollcy, certain policies may requlre an endorsement. A statement on thls cerUflcate does not confer rlghts to the 
certtfkate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s). 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER 
CITYMOI 

PRODUCER Phone: 205-414-8100 
Cobbs Allen - SBU 
Cobbs Allen Fax: 
115 OWlce Park Drive S b  200 
Blrmin ham, AL 35213 
~urget!Tonsmelre 

INSURED Adams, Giimore 8 Lynch, Inc. 
31 18 Belwood Dr. Ste 114 
Birmingham, AL 35243 

City Of Mountain Brook 
Emmett O'Neal Library 
56 Church Street 
Mountain Brook, AL 35213-0009 

CANCELLATION 
I 

Ethelene Clemmons 
E,: 205-874-1974 I (2, 205-769-3583 

eclemmons@~~bbsalIen.~~m 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISONS. 

INSURER(S) AFFORDINQ COVEWE 

INSURER A :United Fire 8 Casualty Company 
INSURER B :Alabama Home Builders 
INSURER c :New York Marine 8 General 

AUTHORED REPRESENTATIVE 

@r-c37;,= 

WC I 
13021 
10005 

I , , - I 
Q 1988-2010 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights resewed. 

ACORD 25 (2010105) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD 



/ NOTEPAD ADAMS-8 
~ W R E D ~  WE Adams, Gilmore 81 Lynch, I~c .  OP ID: EC 

Jamee X. Qilmare (Preeidcmt) h Stephen Lynch (Sec/Treaeurer) are Excluded 
from Worker1e Comp Coverage. 



AGL, Inc. 

1 18 Bellwood Drive 
Suite 114 
Birmingham, AL 35243 
Ibeatty@aglgc.com 

Name / Address I 
EMMET O'NEAL LIBRARY 
A m :  DEBORAH STEWART 
SO OAK STREET 
MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 3521 3 

Estimate No 

6/25/2013 

Page 2 

REP 

SPL 

JOB NAME 

MB Library 

ITEM 

130 
130 
130 

130 
130 
130 
130 
130 

170 
140 

AGL is not responsible for 

DESCRIPTION 

119& 118 
132 
131 

UPPER FLOOR OPTIMA 
203 
202 
20 1 
225 & 226 
224 

ELECTRICIAN 
CLEAN UP 

notification. 
- 

errors or omissions in drawings or changes without confirmed 

COST 

13,899.27 
13,783.77 
4,382.07 

4,271.19 
842.99 

1,392.93 
26,868.77 
23,979.90 

6,000.00 
11.000.00 

Total $138,767.86 

Total 

13,899.27 
13,783.77 
4,382.07 

4,271.19 
842.99 

1,392.93 
26,868.77 
23,979.90 

6,000.00 
1 1,000.00 



AGL, Inc. 

3 1 18 Bellwood Drive 
Suite 1 14 
Birmingham, AL 35243 
Ibeatty@aglgc.com 

Name 1 Address 

EMMET ONEAL LIBRARY 
ATIN: DEBORAH STEWART 
50 OAK STREET 
MOUNTAIN BROOK. AL 35213 

Estimate No 

6/25/20 13 

Page 1 

REP 

SPL 

JOB NAME 

MB Library 

ITEM 

130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 

130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 

130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 
130 

AGL is not responsible 

COST 

6,151.53 
1,632.02 
2,040.89 
1,645.87 
2,23 1.46 

509.36 
358.05 
404.25 

3,289.44 
382.3 1 
306.08 

1,835.30 
242.55 

2,192.19 
637.56 
445.83 
713.79 
445.83 

382.3 1 
382.31 

1,376.76 
764.61 

1,223.15 
1,529.22 
1,224.30 

DESCRIPTION 

MT. BROOK LIBRARY - CEILING TILE 
LOWER LEVEL ALL DUNES 
00 1 
002 
016 
012 
013 
007 
014 
015 

MAIN LEVEL DUNES 
112 
113 
114 
115 
VEST 
126 
128 
127 
105 
106 

UPPER FLOOR DUNES 
218 
219 
217 
216 
212 
210 
204 

MAIN LEVEL OPTIMA 

for errors or omissions in drawings or changes without confirmed 

Total 

6,151.53 
1,632.02 
2,040.89 
1,645.87 
2,23 1.46 

509.36 
358.05 
404.25 

3,289.44 
382.31 
306.08 

1,835.30 
242.55 

2,192.19 
637.56 
445.83 
713.79 
445.83 

382.31 
382.3 1 

1,376.76 
764.61 

1,223.15 
1,529.22 
1,224.30 

notification. Total 



RESOLUTION NO.  2014-015 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that 
City Council hereby authorizes the acceptance of a release and indemnification from Charles  
Keith Herron and Kelly Sims Herron with respect to the City’s waiver of building code 
requirements for the property located at 2709 Southwood Road, in the form as attached hereto as 
Exhibit A. 
 
ADOPTED: This 10th day of February, 2014. 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Council President 
 
APPROVED:  This 10th day of February, 2014. 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Mayor 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
 I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby 
certify the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Mountain Brook at its meeting held on February 10, 2014, as same appears in the minutes 
of record of said meeting. 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Release and Indemnification – 2709 Southwood Road                 2014-015 



This instrument was prepared by: 
James B. Griffin 

Bishop Colvin Johnson & Kent, LLC 
1910 First Ave. North 

Birmingham, AL  35203 

Page 1 of 3 
 

STATE OF ALABAMA ) 
JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 
 

GRANT OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT, RELEASE, AND INDEMNIFICATION 

RE: Certificate of Occupancy for  

2709 Southwood Road, Mountain Brook, Alabama 35223 

_________________________________ 

This Grant of Acknowledgment, Release, and Indemnification (ARelease@) is made by 
Charles Keith Herron and Kelly Sims Herron (AOwner@), the owners of residential property 
located at 2709 Southwood Road, Mountain Brook, Jefferson County, Alabama 35223 and more 
completely described as Lot 45A, Block 16, according to the Gorrie-Wittichen Survey as 
recorded in Map Book 224, page 80, in the Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama, 
Birmingham Division (the AProperty@), in favor of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation (the ACity@).   

WHEREAS, Section N1102.3.6 of the 2012 International Residential Code adopted by 
the City (the ACode@) requires that double-paned windows be installed when renovating this 
home; and  

WHEREAS, Owner has asserted that remodeling this older home to comply with Section 
N1102.3.6 of the Code would alter and diminish the beauty of the home and its historic design; 
and  

WHEREAS, Owner has requested the City to issue a Certificate of Occupancy, despite 
the code-compliance issues, so that she may live in the home with the original windows or 
similarly designed windows; and   

WHEREAS, upon completion of the renovations under Building Permit No. B041972, 
the City agrees to issue the Certificate of Occupancy based on the following enumerated 
conditions to which Owner agrees and assents through the execution of this Release and its 
recording in the public records of Jefferson County, Alabama; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the above promises and the mutual 
covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged: 



 

 

 

1. Owner hereby RELEASES, EXONERATES, and DISCHARGES the City, its 
officials, employees, agents, and representatives (in their official and individual capacities) from 
any and every claim, action, suit, demand, judgment, cost, fee, expense, or liability of any kind 
or character whatsoever arising out of or relating to violations of the Code and the issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy for the Property; 

2. Owner further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the entities and persons 
hereby released from, against, and with respect to any and every claim, action, suit, demand, 
judgment, cost fee, expense, or liability of any kind or character that may be asserted against, 
imposed against, or incurred by the above-named Owner or her successors-in-title as a result of 
or by reason of any claimed breach of legal duty arising out of or relating to violations of the 
Code; 

3. Owner SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGES and AGREES that the City has no 
legal obligation to issue the Certificate of Occupancy because the windows do not comply with 
Section N1102.3.6 of the Code;  

4. Owner SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGES and AGREES that the City shall 
enforce compliance with the Code and other legal requirements of the Certificate of Occupancy 
with the sole exception of the windows and that the City has the legal right to do so; and 

5. This Grant of Acknowledgment, Release, and Indemnification shall be recorded 
in the public records of Jefferson County, Alabama and shall be deemed to be an obligation that 
runs with the land.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Owner has caused this instrument to be executed on 
this the _____ day of February, 2014.  

 

OWNER 

_________________________   _________________________ 
Charles Keith Herron      Kelly Sims Herron 
 
 



 

 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA  ) 
JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 
 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said county and state, hereby 
certify that Charles Keith Herron, whose name is signed to the foregoing instrument and who is 
known to me, acknowledged before me that, being informed of the contents of the foregoing 
instrument, she executed the same voluntarily, on the day the same bears date. 

Given under my hand and official seal on this the _____ day of __________, 2014. 

________________________________  
Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires:____________________ 

 
 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA  ) 
JEFFERSON COUNTY ) 
 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said county and state, hereby 
certify that Kelly Sims Herron, whose name is signed to the foregoing instrument and who is 
known to me, acknowledged before me that, being informed of the contents of the foregoing 
instrument, she executed the same voluntarily, on the day the same bears date. 

Given under my hand and official seal on this the _____ day of __________, 2014. 

________________________________  
Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires:____________________ 

 


	2014-Feb-10 Agenda
	2.  Audit presentation charts
	2a. Audit management letter
	2b. Audti required communications
	2c. Audit (draft) report
	3.  Minutes
	4.  Set public hearing (publication)
	5.  Surplus shotguns and purchase replacements
	6.  Library ceiling tile bid award
	7.  Building code waiver release



